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About Terramin

Terramin Australia Limited (the “Company” or 
“Terramin”) and its controlled entities (the “Group”) 
engage in the exploration, evaluation and development 
of base metal projects in Australia and overseas. 

Terramin has a clear focus on growing a production 
pipeline through base metal projects close to 
infrastructure and with low capital and operating costs. 
Consistent with this focus, the Group holds a number of 
highly prospective exploration tenements across 
several South Australian and Algerian locations.

Projects include the owner-operated Angas Zinc Mine; 
Fleurieu and Menninnie exploration programmes in 
South Australia; and the flagship Tala Hamza Project, 
which is located on the Mediterranean coast of Algeria 
and is a joint venture with Algerian government-owned 
companies. In total, the Group has access to 3 billion 
pounds of zinc in situ. 

Terramin has highly capable engineering, production 
and financial teams to take projects from exploration 
through feasibility to production. These teams are 
supported by management and a Board which has 
extensive experience leading and managing every  
stage of mining and processing.

The safety of everyone involved in operations is at  
the core of the Company. The primary objective is to 
operate in a manner that builds long term, sustainable 
value for all our stakeholders. 
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key events

Group
 ■ 50% improvement in triFr and 

lti free for 12 months.

 ■ revenue increases by 22.8%  
to $71 million.

 ■ Farm-in and joint venture 
agreement signed with south 
Australia focused explorer, 
musgrave minerals ltd, for  
the menninnie Project.

 ■ Completion of $10 million  
capital raise resulting in new 
cornerstone investors: Asipac 
Group of Companies and tronic 
enterprise development limited.

Angas Zinc Mine
 ■ record annual production for 

ore mined of 434kt (up 5.3%); 
ore milled of 442kt (up 10.1%) 
and zinc and lead concentrates 
of 87kt (up 41%).

 ■ improved C1 Cash Cost of  
us 56c/lb (down 15%).

 ■ Angas eBitdA of $15.0 million  
(down 3.4%).

Exploration
 ■ exploration programme aimed at 

extension of life for the Angas 
Zinc mine commenced.

 ■ Fleurieu exploration plans 
announced for Pipeline, disher 
Hill and Freeway prospects.

 ■ drilling confirms shallow, large 
copper-gold system at Pipeline 
prospect.

 ■ drilling recommenced at 
menninnie dam.

 ■ silver, zinc and graphite 
intersected at mannequin target 
at menninnie dam.

Tala Hamza
 ■ After pursuing several avenues 

to progress the project during 
2012, including the sale of its 
interest, terramin has 
discontinued the proposed sale 
and remains focused on 
progressing the project.

Operations  
Overview
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Angas Financial and 
Operational Summary

Zinc concentrate up 41.0% as a result  
of higher ore milled with a 27.2% 

increase in zinc grade.

Ore milled up 10.1% as a result of 
increased ore availability and improved 
mill throughput rate and availability to 

maintain metal recoveries.

Ore mined up 5.3% due to improved 
mining front availability and  

equipment performance.

 10.1%
INCreASe IN ore MILLed  

To 442 THouSANd ToNNeS.

 41.0%
INCreASe IN ZINC ANd LeAd 
CoNCeNTrATe ProduCTIoN  
To 87 THouSANd ToNNeS.

 22.8%
INCreASe IN reveNue  

To $71 MILLIoN.

Angas eBitdA down 3.4% due to  
lower A$ commodity prices realised 
against a higher quantity of metal 

production and sales.

revenue up 22.8% due to increased 
metal sales.

lead concentrate up 40.9% as a result 
of higher ore milled  with a 26.1% 

increase in lead grade.
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Chairman’s  
Review

dear shareholders,

since taking up the role of Chairman for 
terramin in June 2012, i have continued 
to work with your Board and management 
team to progress the Company’s strategic 
aims.  shareholders may be aware that 
these strategic aims were the focus of  
a corporate review which ran for the 
duration of 2012. the outcomes of the 
review are now becoming visible. the 
three major aims were to unlock value in 
the Company’s south Australian 
exploration tenements whilst conserving 
our cash position; optimise Angas 
production and revenue; and progress 
the tala Hamza Project. Progress has 
been made on all these fronts.    

Strategic Review
during the year, terramin entered into 
discussions with partners nFC over the 
potential sale of the tala Hamza Project.  
Following a successful capital raising in 
late 2012, terramin has determined it can 
realise greater value from the project by 
progressing negotiations with our 
Algerian joint venture partners and 
government stakeholders. encouraging 
dialogue commenced in late 2012 and  
i look forward to reporting further 
information to shareholders as 
outcomes eventuate. 

As the year progressed, Angas 
delivered consistent and marked 
improvements in output and cost 
efficiencies. A number of production 
records were set throughout the year 
which culminated with a number of 
annual records.

the strategic review also related to the 
menninnie Project. Following extensive 
discussions with external parties, a 
Heads of Agreement was executed  
with musgrave minerals limited for  
the farm-in and joint venture of the 
menninnie Project. the Board is 
confident that this approach will unlock 
the value of the project whilst 
conserving cash flow. this joint venture 
is a very good opportunity for terramin 
to advance and develop the resources 
at menninnie dam and other prospects 
with free carry rights whilst retaining 
significant exposure to exploration 
prospects of the project.  drilling has 
now recommenced in the region.  

terramin has also launched a new 
exploration programme on the highly 
prospective Fleurieu tenements.  
Additionally, drilling has taken place on 
Angas near mine targets, and is also 
progressing at depth in the current mine 
development, aimed at extending mine 
reserves.

Financial
the Company achieved its highest 
revenue result since its inception,  
despite challenging market conditions. 
it was through the numerous production 
records that this was attained despite 
lower A$ commodity prices against the 
previous year. A 15% reduction in 
annualised Company costs also  
aided earnings. 

Capital Raising
2012 presented challenges which were 
not unique to terramin. many junior 
mining companies struggled to raise 
capital in a tumultuous year for equity 
and commodity markets marked by 
high volatility. 

M
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it was against this backdrop that your 
Company completed a successful 
capital raising, which included a 
placement and underwritten 
renounceable rights issue raising  
$10 million, and restructure of its debt 
and convertible note facilities which has 
provided a platform to strengthen its 
balance sheet to pursue the Company’s 
projects. We welcome the support of 
new cornerstone investors, the Asipac 
Group of Companies and tronic 
enterprise development limited.

Concluding Remarks
Having built the foundations to enable 
the Company to progress on a path  
of growth through exploration and 
development of projects, the Board and 
i envisage a more positive year for the 
Company. the necessary elements are 
firmly in place, namely targeted 
exploration programmes over the 
Company’s highly prospective 
tenements and more focussed dialogue 
in Algeria. these are underpinned by 
solid backing from our new investors 
and a team with the technical and 
financial capabilities to deliver results. 
terramin will continue to review 
opportunities for growth through the 
identification and acquisition of 
resources and the development of its 
projects and operations over the next 
12 months and beyond.  

Thank you
On behalf of the Board of directors,  
i would like to sincerely thank you for 
your ongoing support of terramin 
Australia limited.

Michael Kennedy 
Chairman
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Managing Director’s 
Review

dear shareholders,

i am pleased to present the Company’s 
annual report for 2012. it was a year that 
presented many challenges through 
difficult market conditions, and saw the 
Company undergo consolidation and 
change, yet execute and progress key 
strategic objectives. the Company 
maintained a strong trajectory of 
improvement over the year which would 
not have been possible without the 
commitment of our employees and 
dedicated support from our key external 
stakeholders.

Safety & Environment
the safety of everyone at terramin is 
one of our core values. i am pleased to 
report that 2012 has seen strong 
improvement in safety performance and 
that during march 2013, we achieved a 
milestone of over 1 year without a lost 
time injury (lti) for the first time. 

Another positive milestone is the 
significant reduction of the water level 
of the tailings storage Facility (tsF) to  
a level that met the environmental 
direction issued to the Company in late 
2011, by the department for 
manufacturing, innovation, trade, 
resources and energy (dmitre).  the 
surface area of the tsF reduced to its 
lowest level since the mine’s inception. 
this outcome  required improvements 
in treatment capacity, evaporation 
techniques, raw water management, 
and a partnership with a local primary 
producer for the use of clean water.  We 
intend to continue positive momentum 
during 2013 to ensure the tsF remains 
within agreed parameters.

Strategic Objectives  
and Review
As i outlined at the start of the year,  
in parallel to the Company’s strategic 
objectives (as reported in the Chairman’s 
address on page 4) there have been two 
short-term priorities for the Company: 
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Stage 1 of Corporate 
Strategic Review

Discussions with NFC  
for potential sale of 
Terramin’s interest in  
the Tala Hamza Project.

Talks with Tala Hamza  
JV partner

Investigating alternative 
approaches to the 
development of the  
Tala Hamza Project.

Discontinued sale

Discontinued the 
proposed sale of 
Terramin’s interest  
in the Tala Hamza 
Project to NFC.

Positive discussions

Discussions held with the  
Algerian authorities and 
ENOF. 

1st Qtr Production

Zinc concentrate 
production up 9% 
(against previous 
quarter).

2nd Qtr Production

New records for ore milled 
and lead concentrate 
production.  
C1 Cash Cost down 38%.

3rd Qtr Production

New records for ore 
mined, zinc concentrate 
production and lead 
concentrate production. 
C1 Cash Cost down 33%.

4th Qtr Production

Annual records set for ore 
mined, ore milled and zinc 
and lead concentrate 
production. 
Annual C1 Cash Cost 
down 15%.

Half Year Result

Angas EBITDA of $4 million; 
Revenues of $31 million,  
a 21% increase against 1st 
half of 2011.
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1. Progressing the tala Hamza Project; 
and

2. increasing output and net revenue 
at the Angas Zinc mine.

these priorities have been the subject 
of intense focus throughout the year. 
Although progress with the tala Hamza 
Project has been limited, the extent of 
improvement in the performance at 
Angas has been both remarkable and  
a credit to all concerned.

Priority 1 – Progressing 
the Tala Hamza Project
those that are familiar with our 
Company would know that in 2012 we 
entered into discussions with nFC for 
the sale of the tala Hamza Project, 
which were subsequently discontinued. 
Our WmZ JV partners reiterated their 
wish to work with terramin on the 
project and following the successful 
capital raising in late 2012, dialogue has 
recommenced. in early 2013, i carried 
out an extended visit to Algeria, which 
reconfirmed the importance with which 
the tala Hamza Project is viewed in all 
quarters.  However, it remains to agree 
the necessary technical details with our 
JV partners, the most critical being that 
the mining method.  terramin has 
proposed an alternative approach, and i 
expect to report further information to 
shareholders as outcomes eventuate in 
the second quarter of 2013.  

Jan
2012

Feb Jan
2013

DecNovOctSepAugJulJunMayAprMar Feb Mar
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Priority 2 – Increasing 
output and net revenue  
at Angas Zinc Mine
the Angas mine delivered strong 
operational and financial performance 
as a result of a systematic improvement 
and optimisation programme, planned 
higher mine grade, and a focussed 
reduction in capital and operating costs. 

Operational improvements commenced 
with the involvement of external 
consultants, Partners in Performance, 
at the start of 2012. terramin 
subsequently built on this, and added 
our internally led net revenue max 
Programme, implemented throughout 
the Company, that also resulted in 
excess of $2 million reduction in 
annualised corporate overheads.

As a result, annual production records 
were set for ore mined; ore processed; 
zinc and lead concentrate production 
(each up by 41%) as well as payable 
metal, all whilst significantly improving 
our safety performance. Operating 
performance is summarised in the table 
below. Angas eBitdA was marginally 
lower as a result of lower realised A$ 
commodity prices throughout the year. 

the internal revenue optimisation, 
combined with a successful $10 million 
capital raising, and financial 
restructuring with the support from our 
financiers have positioned the Company 
to weather the externally driven market 
forces which some junior companies 
were not able to withstand.  

Angas Performance Metrics 2011 2012 Change

revenue A$M 58 71 up 23%

Angas eBitdA A$M 16 15 down 3%

Ore mined kt 412 434 up 5%

Ore milled kt 401 442 up 10%

Zinc concentrate kt 44 62 up 41%

lead concentrate kt 18 25 up 41%

C1 Cash Cost USc/lb 66 56 down 15%

Exploration
three distinct exploration programmes 
were launched across south Australia in 
2012, aimed at extending current mine 
life for the Angas operation as well as 
growing terramin’s resource inventory 
across the state:  

1. the Angas near-mine exploration 
programme;

2. the Fleurieu exploration Project; and

3. exploration drilling on the menninnie 
dam prospect.

these programmes are quite diverse, 
not only in location but also in targeted 
commodities . they target zinc, lead, 
copper, gold, silver and we have also 
seen some promising graphite results  
at menninnie. 

drill results returned from the Pipeline 
Gold Prospect, within the Fleurieu 
exploration Project, have confirmed the 
presence of a shallow, large copper-
gold system. these results merit 
follow-up geophysics and diamond 
drilling to test the mineralisation further 
below the water table and along strike.  
i look forward to keeping you informed 
as developments eventuate.   

information on each of these programmes 
including activities to date can be seen 
in the directors’ report on pages 14  
and 15.

The Year Ahead
Progression of the tala Hamza Project 
will continue to be a key priority in 2013. 

during 2013, mineral exploration will be 
an integral part of our growth strategy. 
the Company will be focussed on 
discovering and acquiring resources 
that can extend the life of the Angas 
mine and provide resource growth 
across our portfolio. 

the exploration results for mine life 
extension will determine the Company’s 
approach to Angas. Announcements 
will continue to be made on Angas and 
exploration programmes as results are 
known.

terramin is also preparing plans for the 
orderly completion of the Angas mine in 
the last quarter of 2013, in the event that 
mine life extension exploration proves to 
be unsuccessful.

terramin is also maintaining, and 
actively developing, a list of target 
opportunities for growth by merger and/
or acquisition with the support of our 
cornerstone shareholder, AsiPAC.

the Company’s strengths and capabilities 
were clearly demonstrated in 2012 and i 
look forward to growing this capability 
to deliver success in 2013 and beyond.

Thank you
i would like to take this opportunity to 
thank the Board of directors for their 
support over the year; the management 
team for their dedication and 
commitment; and all of terramin’s 
employees for their contribution 
towards an outstanding and a safer 
operational year amidst a period of 
challenging external conditions and 
internal consolidation.  
i welcome the support of our new 
cornerstone shareholders and would 
like to thank our financiers, investec, 
and existing shareholders, for their 
continued support over the past  
12 months.

Nic Clift 
Managing Director
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Operation Description Resources/Reserves 2012 0utcomes Planned Developments

Angas Zinc Mine
100% Terramin owned  
and operated

A 400,000 tpa operation 
producing zinc and lead-copper-
silver-gold concentrates.

There is a life of mine off-take 
agreement with Freepoint Metals 
and Concentrates LLC for zinc 
concentrate and a five year 
off-take agreement with Nyrstar 
Sales & Marketing AG for lead 
concentrate.

Probable Reserves of  
0.19 million tonnes at 
11.56% Zn+Pb;  
40g/t Ag and  
0.55g/t Au  
(Jan 2013).

Annual production records were set 
in 2012 for ore mined, ore milled 
and zinc and lead concentrate 
produced.

The mine produced 61,720 tonnes 
of zinc concentrate and 25,465 
tonnes of lead concentrate.   

Payable meta for zinc, lead and 
precious metals payable metals 
exceeded 2011 quantities.  

C1 cash costs averaged US56c/lb  
for the year.

Exploration will continue 
aimed at extending current 
mine life at Angas. The 
exploration results will 
determine the Company’s 
approach to Angas.

Oued Amizour 
Project
100% owned by 
Western Mediterranean 
Zinc Spa (WMZ)

Terramin has a 65% 
shareholding in WMZ. The 
remaining 35% is held by two 
Algerian government-owned 
companies. Enterprise Nationale 
des Produits Miniers Non-
Ferreux et des Substances Utiles 
Spa (ENOF) (32.5%) and Office 
National de Recherche 
Géologique et Minière (ORGM) 
(2.5%).

Oued Amizour Exploration Permit 
5225PE is a 125km2 tenement 
which contains several lead-zinc 
deposits. The Tala Hamza deposit 
has been the focus for the past 
years, culminating in a positive 
feasibility study.

Probable Reserves of 
38.1 million tonnes at 
6.1% Pb+Zn  
(Oct 2010).

Measured, Indicated  
and Inferred Resource 
of 68.6 million tonnes 
at 5.7% Pb+Zn  
(Nov 2009).

The Company pursued several 
options during 2012, including the 
potential sale of Terramin’s interest 
in the project. In conjunction with 
the financial restructure and capital 
raising which took place in late 
2012, Terramin discontinued the 
proposed sale of its interest in  
the Tala Hamza Project to NFC and 
remains focussed on progressing 
the Tala Hamza Project with its JV 
partner.

Progression of the Tala Hamza 
Project will continue to be a 
key priority in 2013.

Menninnie Zinc 
Project
Owned by Terramin 
subsidiary Menninnie 
Metals Pty Ltd

Comprises a group of five 
Exploration Licences covering a 
contiguous area of 2,471km2.

These licences are Menninnie 
Dam (EL5039), Nonning 
(EL4813), Kolendo (EL4285), 
Taringa (EL4669) and Wipipippee 
Hill (EL4865).

Menninnie Metals Pty Ltd has 
entered into a binding heads of 
agreement with Musgrave 
Minerals Ltd for the farm-in joint 
venture of the Menninnie Dam 
Project.

Inferred Resource of 
7.7 million tonnes at 
5.7% Pb+Zn  
(Feb 2011) for the 
Menninnie Central 
and Viper deposits  
in EL3640.

The Company announced the 
execution of a Heads of Agreement 
with Musgrave Minerals Limited in 
October 2012. All conditions 
included in this Heads of 
Agreement have been satisfied.

Musgrave Minerals Ltd 
commenced exploration drilling  
on Menninnie Dam during the last 
quarter of 2012, with recent 
results showing silver, zinc and 
graphite intersected.

Menninnie Metals has applied 
for additional exploration 
tenements to extend the 
Company’s interests in this 
highly prospective area.

The tenement applications 
(ELA2012/00299, Unalla and 
ELA2012/00316, Mt Ive) are 
located to the west of, and are 
contiguous with, the Taringa 
tenement. The area covers 
584km2 and is prospective for 
base metals, silver and gold.

Fleurieu Exploration 
Project
100% Terramin owned 

Comprises a group of five 
Exploration Licences covering a 
contiguous area of 1,186km2.

These licences are Bremer 
(EL4936),  Hartley (EL5078), 
Currency Creek (EL4210), 
Langhorne Creek (EL4466) and 
Pfeiffer (EL5102).

Exploration Licence EL5102, 
Pfeiffer, was granted and 
applications for further exploration 
licences covering 1,054km2 were 
lodged with DMITRE  
(ELA 2012/00315, Tepko and  
ELA 2012/00317, Kinchina).

A 2,400m aircore drilling 
programme commenced at the 
Pipeline prospect during January 
2013 with drill results returned 
confirming the presence of a gold, 
bismuth and copper system. 

Priority targets to be tested in 
2013 include several electro- 
magnetic anomalies that were 
identified and prioritised from 
the 2010 Versatile Domain 
Electromagnetic (VTEM) 
survey that covered a large 
portion of Terramin’s Fleurieu 
tenements.

A full review of operations can be found on page 14 of the Directors’ Report.  The full Resources and Reserves position is on page 8.

Review of Operations  
at a glance
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the following tables set out the current resource and reserve position for the Company. 

Table of Resources
 Measured Resource Indicated Resource Inferred Resource Total Resources

 Terramin Tonnes Zn Pb Tonnes Zn Pb Tonnes Zn Pb Tonnes Zn Pb
 interest (%) (Mt) (%) (%) (Mt) (%) (%) (Mt) (%) (%) (Mt) (%) (%)

Angas 1,6 100 - - - 0.66 4.68 1.81 0.25 2.8 1.3 0.91 4.2 1.7
Sunter 1,9 100 - - - 0.13 5.70 2.31 0.24 2.9 1.2 0.38 3.8 1.6
Tala Hamza 2,7 65 30.6 5.7 1.6 20.5 3.6 0.8 17.5 3.7 0.6 68.6 4.6 1.1
Menninnie Dam 3,8 100 - - - - - - 7.7 3.1 2.6 7.7 3.1 2.6

Total (100%) - 30.6 5.7 1.6 21.3 3.6 0.8 25.8 3.5 1.2 77.5 4.4 1.3 

Total (Terramin share)  - 19.9 5.7 1.6 14.1 3.6 0.8 19.7 3.4 1.4 53.5 4.3 1.3 

1. Resources for Angas and Sunter are estimated at a cut off of 2% Pb+Zn.
2. Resources for Tala Hamza are estimated at a cut off of 2.5% ZnEq.  The Zinc Equivalence formula for 

Tala Hamza is %ZnEq = %Zn + 0.59 x %Pb and is based on long term predicted prices at October 
2009 of Pb USD1,323/t and Zn USD1,764/t and metal recoveries of Pb 62% and Zn 88%.

3. Resources for Menninnie Dam are estimated at a cut off of 2.5% Pb+Zn.
4. Reserve cut off grade at Angas is 7.26% Pb+Zn.
5. Reserve cut off grade at Tala Hamza is 2.5% Zn.
6. Angas Resources and Reserves:  Estimated as at 1 Jan 2013.  Resources are additional to Reserves.  

Indicated Resources are exclusive of those Resources converted to Reserve.  Resources exclude oxide 
and transitional material.

7. Tala Hamza Resources estimated as at 15 November 2009. Reserve is as at 12 October 2010.  
Reserve is for a block cave.  Resources are inclusive of Reserves.

8. Menninnie Dam Resources are as at 15 February 2011.
9. Sunter Resources are as at 29 November 2011.

Reserves & 
Resources

JORC Competent Person Statement

The information in this report that relates to Exploration Results is based on information 
compiled by Mr Eric Whittaker. The information that relates to Mineral Resources for 
Menninnie Dam and Tala Hamza is based on information compiled by Mr Robert Singer.  
The information that relates to Mineral Resources for Angas and Sunter is based on 
information compiled by Mr Eric Whittaker and Mr Thomas Denver. The information that 
relates to Ore Reserves for Tala Hamza is based on information compiled by Dr David 
Allison and for Angas by Mr Andrew Harris. Mr Whittaker, Mr Singer, Mr Denver and Mr 
Harris are Members of The Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy and Dr Allison 
is a Member of the Institute on Materials, Minerals and Mining. Mr Denver is Senior Mine 
Geologist and Mr Harris is Mine Manager of Angas Zinc Mine and both are full time 
employees of Terramin Australia Limited. Mr Whittaker is a consultant to Terramin 
Australia Limited. Mr Singer was Chief Geologist of Terramin Australia Limited and  
Dr Allison was Senior Mining Engineer at Golder Associates (UK) Ltd at the time of their 
respective estimates. All have sufficient experience which is relevant to the style of 
mineralisation and type of deposit under consideration and to the activity which he is 
undertaking to qualify as a Competent Person as defined in the 2004 Edition of the 
‘Australasian Code for Reporting of Exploration Results, Mineral Resources and  Ore 
Reserves’. Mr Whittaker, Mr Denver, Mr Singer, Mr Harris and Dr Allison consent to the 
inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information in the form and context  
in which it appears.

Table of Reserves
 Probable Reserve Total Reserve

 Terramin Tonnes Zn Pb Tonnes Zn Pb
 interest (%) (Mt) (%) (%) (Mt) (%) (%)

Angas 4,6 100  0.19 8.27 3.29 0.19 8.27 3.29 
Tala Hamza 5,7 65  38.10   4.78   1.36   38.1   4.78   1.36 

Total (100%) -  38.3 4.80 1.37 38.3 4.80 1.37 

Total (Terramin share)  -  25.0 4.80 1.37 25.0 4.80 1.37 



9TERRAMIN AustrAliA limited 2012 AnnuAl rePOrt

Sustainability –  
a shared responsibility

to uphold our responsibility for growing 
the Company in a sustainable manner, at 
terramin we strive to: 

•	 Put safety first in everything we do; 

•	 Always act in the best interest of the 
Company; and

•	 Help to build and maintain a culture 
that is just, fair and equitable for all 
stakeholders.

terramIn values
in a growing organisation, we have a 
shared responsibility to adopt a 
common set of core values, which play a 
critical part in achieving sustainable 
business success. 

Planning for the Angas Zinc mine 
rehabilitation is taking place in 
conjunction with our regulators and 
community consultative committee.  the 
objective is to rehabilitate the site of the 
Angas Zinc mine to provide the 
community with a valuable resource 
once mine completion is achieved.

Teamwork
teamwork means working cooperatively 
and proactively sharing information with 
all stakeholders to deliver mutually 
beneficial results.  throughout the year, 
terramin has engaged actively in 
dialogue and collaboration with our 
stakeholders in Algeria and Australia at 
every level of the Company (see figure 
below). We value  the support of these 
same partners highly, without whom 
sustainable success would not be 
achievable.

Recognition
success and accomplishments are 
openly celebrated at terramin and we 
recognise the contributions made by 
others in meeting Company and local 
objectives.  

Integrity
At terramin we believe in behaving with 
honesty and acting with integrity. this 
means treating people with respect, 
communicating openly and honouring 
commitments.  We have a solutions- 
orientated approach and expect our 
people to be accountable for achieving 
results.  We have adopted a pervasive 
corporate governance framework for 
upholding the 8 key AsX Corporate 
Governance recommendations which 
influences recruitment, remuneration, 
communication, supplier relationships  
and all business activities (refer to the 
Corporate Governance statement on 
page 56 for further information).

Vision
management and Board are continually 
seeking new and innovative opportunities 
to develop and grow terramin.  We value 
a workforce that contributes to change 
strategies by generating new 
approaches and encouraging others to 
be innovative.  the production and net 
revenue maximisation programmes 
implemented at Angas during the 2012 
period, and the methods developed to 
manage water in the tsF provide 
examples of the way vision and 
innovation can lead to strong 
performance. 

Excellence
We strive for excellence in every facet of 
our Company. We believe that excellence 
promotes continuous improvement 
through ongoing monitoring of 
performance, processes and results.   
excellence starts with individuals and  
is a responsibility we all pursue.

 S > Safety and the Environment

 T > Teamwork

 R > Recognition

 I > Integrity

 V > Vision

 E > Excellence

Safety and the 
environment
Our ability to grow the Company safely 
and in an environmentally responsible 
manner is at the forefront of our 
business activities.  

We are very proud of our 2012 safety 
performance with a 50% reduction in 
total recordable injury Frequency rate 
(triFr) and lost time injury (lti) free  
for 12 months.  We strive to ensure the 
focus on safety continues every single 
day. 

Our environmental performance is 
equally important.  Following intense 
focus and diligent management 
throughout the year, the Angas team 
generated a methodology for the tsF,  
as a result of which water levels fell to 
within the parameters considered 
acceptable to the regulator, enabling 
terramin to meet the environmental 
direction issued to it in October 2011.
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Senior 
Management

Nic Clift – Managing Director
nic has over 30 years’ international experience in the mining and base metals extraction,  
refining, and recycling industries. He has worked in a variety of corporate, management, project, 
development, and operating roles, and has extensive experience in dealing with government 
and local administration. more than a third of his career has been spent in Africa; most recently 
he ran Kamoto Operating limited in the drC, and prior to that CBG in Guinea. Amongst his 
qualifications and professional affiliations, nic holds an mBA from the university of Queensland, 
and is a Graduate of the Australian institute of Company directors (GAiCd).

Sarah Thomas  – Financial Controller
sarah is an FCA with more than ten years’ international experience in financial management 
roles.  she started her career with Baker tilly before moving into financial and professional 
services and subsequently the resources industry.  she has broad experience which includes 
the introduction of cost saving initiatives, mergers and acquisitions, financial modelling, financial 
reporting and management accounting.

Joe Ranford – General Manager, Angas Zinc Mine
Joe is a mining engineer with 19 years’ experience in mining operations and project 
management roles in Australia and south Africa. Joe has extensive experience in underground 
and open cut mining methods across a number of commodities. He has strong experience in 
project commissioning and mine management, including environmental and safety compliance. 
most recently, he was General manager of Australian Operations for Crocodile Gold Corporation.  

John Burgess – General Manager Tala Hamza Project
John is a process and environmental engineer with 35 years’ experience in zinc plants, mostly 
at Broken Hill. He consulted to Zinifex limited on the Century mine and on various nickel and 
gold operations, and has held positions as manager of metallurgy and environment at Broken 
Hill and General manager of the renison tin mine. He has extensive experience in 
commissioning nickel, copper and gold plants, and most recently he managed the successful 
commissioning of the Angas Zinc mine.

Rebecca Jarrett – Business Capability Manager
rebecca has more than 10 years’ experience in systems and organisational capability gained  
from public and private sectors.  she led crisis response, change management and stakeholder 
engagement during her career in the British civil service.  more recently, her focus has been on 
systems implementation, policy, Hr and risk management in the international resources industry.  

Stéphane Gauducheau – Legal Counsel and Company Secretary
stéphane is a lawyer with experience in commercial, corporate and financing transactions.  
Whilst in private practice stéphane advised mining and oil and gas companies on projects  
and transactions in Australia, europe, north and West Africa and the middle east.   
stéphane is admitted to legal practice in south Australia and in France.
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Directors’ Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2012

Your directors submit their report on the consolidated entity 

being terramin Australia limited (the company or terramin) and 

its controlled entities (the Group), for the financial year ended  

31 december 2012 and auditor’s report thereon. 

DirECTOrS
the following persons were directors of the company during the 

whole of the year and up to the date of the report unless stated 

otherwise:  

Mr Michael H Kennedy Bcomm (economics)  

Appointed 15 June 2005

mr Kennedy has enjoyed  a 35 year career in the non-ferrrous 

mining and smelting industry, and has held a number of senior 

marketing and logistics roles with the crA/rtZ Group, managing 

raw material sales from the Bougainville, Broken Hill, cobar and 

Woodlawn mines, managed raw material purchases and supply 

into the Port Pirie lead smelter, Budel zinc smelter (netherlands), 

and the Avonmouth (uK) and cockle creek (newcastle) zinc-lead 

smelters. He was the resident director of the Korea Zinc group of 

companies in Australia from 1991 until 2005, which encompassed 

the construction and commissioning of the sun metals zinc 

refinery in townsville. mr Kennedy is interim chairman of the 

Board, chair of the company’s risk & compliance committee, 

and a member of the due diligence committee, Audit committee 

and of the nominations & remuneration committee.

Mr Nic Clift Bsc (Hons), mBA, fAusimm, mimmm, GAicd, ceng  

Appointed 26 September 2011

mr clift has over 30 years of international experience in the mining 

and base metals extraction, refining, and recycling industries.  

He has worked in a variety of corporate, management, project, 

development, and operating roles, and has extensive experience 

in dealing with government and local administration. more than a 

third of his career has been spent in Africa; most recently he ran 

Kamoto Operating limited in the democratic republic of the congo 

(drc), and prior to that compagnie des Bauxites de Guinee (cBG) 

in Guinea. Amongst his qualifications and professional affiliations, 

mr clift holds an mBA from the university of Queensland and is a 

Graduate member of the Australian institute of company directors 

(GAicd). mr clift is managing director of the company and is a 

director of Western mediterranean Zinc spa (WmZ), the company 

which owns and operates the Oued Amizour Zinc Project in 

Algeria.

Mr Peter Zachert BBus, mGeoscience, mcom, fcA, fAim, GAicd 

Appointed 5 June 2009

mr Zachert is a chartered Accountant and company director.  

His executive background is primarily in resources and diversified 

industrials in Australia and overseas. He currently holds the 

position of sVP Business Planning at Alpha natural resources inc.  

Previous positions held by mr Zachert include cfO of elders 

limited, director and cfO of cyprus Australia coal company, 

cfO of delta Gold limited and senior roles in Prodeco sA and 

exxon coal and mineral company limited. mr Zachert has been  

a director of AsX listed Agricultural land trust limited since  

July 2007. mr Zachert is also a director of a number of private 

companies. mr Zachert is chair of the company’s Audit 

committee and nomination and remuneration committee  

as well as a member of the due diligence and risk & compliance 

committees.

Mr Xie Yaheng msc, senior engineer 

Appointed 18 September 2009

mr Xie is Vice-President of china nonferrous metals industry’s 

foreign engineering and construction company limited (nfc) 

and chairman of Guangdong Zhujiang rare earth co limited, a 

company in which nfc holds a 72% interest. mr Xie’s first degree 

is in electrical engineering and he was a senior electrical engineer 

at the design institute.  mr Xie has further degrees in finance and 

business administration, and project management experience at 

zinc and copper mines in mongolia, Zambia and Vietnam.

Mr Angelo Siciliano fiPA, registered tax Agent, BBus  

Appointed 2 January 2013

mr siciliano has more than 20 years’ experience as an accountant 

in property development and financial services.  mr siciliano holds 

the position of chief financial Officer of Asipac capital Pty 

limited (Asipac) and for the last 16 years has owned and 

managed an accounting practice predominantly focusing on 

taxation advice and business consulting.  mr siciliano is a fellow 

of the institute of Public Accountants and is a director of 

resource Base limited, a gold producer listed on the AsX.

Mr Robert (Bryan) Davis Bsc (tech), fAimm, mAicd 

Appointed 23 July 2009, Retired 29 June 2012

mr davis is a qualified mining engineer with over 40 years’ experience 

in the mining and resources industry. mr davis has held a variety 

of senior corporate and operational roles during his career, including 

as chief executive Officer and subsequently, as a non-executive 

director of newcrest mining limited. mr davis was formerly 

executive director - mining at Pasminco limited, and held senior 

management positions at crA limited. He currently acts as an 

independent, non-executive director on the Board of Onesteel 

limited (appointed december 2004).  in addition, mr davis was  

a director of newcrest mining limited from April 1998 to October 

2008 and of coal and Allied limited from september 2000 to 

december 2011.  mr davis was the chairman of the Board, chair 

of the company’s tala Hamza risk Assessment committee and a 

member of the nominations & remuneration committee and due 

diligence committee until his retirement from the terramin Board.

Mr Steven AJ Bonett Bcom, llB (Hons)  

Appointed 15 June 2005, Retired 29 June 2012

mr Bonett is a corporate lawyer and company director, holding 

degrees in commerce and law. He is a former partner of 

finlaysons lawyers and in that role, led several major transactions 

in Australia and overseas. He is currently a consultant to Adelaide 

commercial law firm, Kelly & co lawyers and a director of 

numerous companies in the Precision Group, a national property, 
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finance and investment group. He is recognised as an expert in the 

field of corporate and commercial law, mergers and acquisitions 

and corporate governance. He has also served on the boards of 

not for profit organisations, including the Queen elizabeth Hospital 

research foundation.  mr Bonett was chair of the company’s 

nominations & remuneration committee and due diligence 

committee and a member of the Audit committee until his 

retirement from the terramin Board.

Dr Kevin C Moriarty Bsc(Hons), Phd  

Appointed 1 September 2000, Retired 30 March 2012

dr moriarty is a professional geologist and company director 

whose career has included involvement in geophysical and 

geological projects in both the petroleum and minerals sectors.  

Both his early and later career has focussed on base and 

precious metal exploration and industrial mineral projects in  

many countries.  Prior to his retirement from the terramin Board, 

dr moriarty was a director of the company and WmZ.

MEETiNgS Of DirECTOrS
the number of meetings of the company’s Board of directors and of each Board committee held during the year ended 31 december 

2012, and the number of meetings attended by each director were:

    Nominations &  Risk & Due Due Diligence 
  Directors’  Audit Remuneration Compliance Diligence Committee 
  Meetings Committee Committee Committee Committee rights issue

  E A E A E A E A E A E A

mH Kennedy 16 16 4 4 1 1 6 6 – – 3 3

P Zachert 16 16 4 4 – – 6 6 – – 3 3 

nm clift 16 16 – – 1 1 – – 8 8 3 3 

Y Xie 16 9 – – – – – – – – – –

sAJ Bonett 12 12 2 2 1 1 – – 8 8 – –

rB davis 12 9 – – 1 1 – – 8 8 – – 

Kc moriarty 6 6 – – – – – – – – – –

E Number of meetings eligible to attend.
A Number of meetings attended.

DirECTOrS’ iNTErESTS
the directors of the company had the following direct or indirect 

interests in the equity of the company as at the date of this 

report:

 fully paid  Options Options
 ordinary  exercise expiry
 shares  Options price date

nm clift – 300,000 $0.53 7 April 16

mH Kennedy 1,250,689 – – –

P Zachert 500,000 – – –

Y Xie – – – –

Total 1,750,689 300,000   

PriNCiPal aCTiviTiES
there were no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s 

principal activities during the reporting period, which continue to 

focus on the mining, development of and exploration for base 

metals (in particular zinc and lead) and other economic mineral 

deposits.

13
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OPEraTiNg rESulTS
 Angas Other Total total
 2012 2012 2012 2011
 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

revenue 71,412 –    71,412 58,167

Other income –    6 6 57

raw materials,  
consumables and  
other direct costs (56,182) –    (56,182) (46,797)

change in inventories of  
finished goods and WiP (45) –    (45) 4,154

employee expenses  –    (4,457) (4,457) (2,988)

Other expenses  –    (3,236) (3,236) (3,551)

share option expense              – – –    (46)

net finance income (costs)  
(non-interest) (183) (4,640) (4,823) 709

Earnings before interest, 
income tax, depreciation,  
impairment and  
amortisation 1 15,002 (12,327) 2,675 9,705

     
depreciation and  
amortisation (26,722) (54) (26,776) (26,348)

impairment of  
non-current assets (33,532) (4,214) (37,746) –                   

Earnings before interest  
and income tax (EBIT) (45,252) (16,595) (61,847) (16,643)

 
net finance costs (interest)  (2,220) (1,110) (3,330) (2,997)

income tax expense  –     –    –     –   

Loss for the period (47,472) (17,705) (65,177) (19,640)

1. Angas operating results include direct costs incurred at the Angas 
Zinc Mine and exclude all hedging and corporate costs.  This 
allocation of results is a non-IFRS measure used by management of 
the Company to assess the operating performance of the business. 
This non-IFRS measure has not been subject to review or audit.

the consolidated loss of the Group after providing for income tax 

was $65.2 million for the year ended 31 december 2012 (2011: 

$19.6 million). the major contributors to the result were non-cash 

charges of $26.8 million for depreciation and amortisation and an 

impairment charge of $37.7 million. the operating profit for the 

Angas Zinc mine was $15 million (2011: $15.4 million) before 

interest, tax, depreciation, impairment and amortisation charges.

sales revenue from zinc and lead concentrates was $71.4 million, 

a 23% increase on the prior year. Operating expenditure increased 

in 2012 as a result of increased output from the Angas Zinc mine 

to $56.2 million (2011: $46.8 million). 

the consolidated net asset position as at 31 december 2012  

was $14.6 million.

DiviDENDS PaiD Or rECOMMENDED
no dividends were paid or declared during the period and no 

recommendation was made to pay a dividend.

rEviEw Of OPEraTiONS
during the year, the company continued to focus on maximising 

productivity and efficiencies from its Angas Zinc mine in south 

Australia.  the company also pursued avenues to progress 

towards a decision to mine the tala Hamza deposit in the Oued 

Amizour Zinc Project in Algeria, and engaged in the exploration 

and evaluation of base and precious metal projects in Australia. 

Highlights for each of the company’s major projects are reported 

below.

Angas Zinc Mine 
(Terramin 100%)
Angas Zinc mine 2012 2011 %
Production stats (‘000 tonnes) (‘000 tonnes) change

Ore mined      434       412  5.3%

Ore milled      441       401  10.0%

Zinc concentrate 
(dry metric tonnes (dmt))        62         44  40.9%

lead concentrate (dmt)        25         18  40.9%

the Angas Zinc mine set production records throughout 2012 for 

tonnes mined and milled and concentrate production. the 

company introduced a systematic improvement and optimisation 

programme which is reflected in the mine’s strong operational 

performance.  Key deliverables of the programme included the 

achievement of grade and tonnes targets, and establishing cost 

improvement targets through improved management processes 

and business capability. forecast annual production targets 

announced to the market in January 2012 were surpassed.

Ore mined and milled increased by 5% and 10% respectively on 

2011, with annual tonnages being the highest in the mine’s 

history and above target.  As a result of increased tonnes and 

improved mine grade, zinc concentrate production increased by 

41% on the prior year, reaching 61,700 tonnes. lead concentrate 

production also increased by 41% on the prior year, reaching 

almost 25,500 tonnes. 

Process plant throughput and availability was maintained at a 

high level throughout the year. improvements made in processing, 

maintenance planning and execution, and ore delivery provided 

for more robust operation of the plant and improved throughput 

and capacity.  

in november, the company announced an exploration 

programme for the Angas Zinc mine aimed at improving reserves 

accessible from current underground development and increasing 

mine life. exploration work is underway, testing the rowe 

anomaly, situated approximately 400m east of the current mine 

workings; the milne anomaly located below the current mine 

workings; and the Albyn anomaly, located south of existing 

workings, and positioned between the Garwood and sunter lodes.  

Directors’ Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2012 (continued)
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stage 2 of the exploration programme, which commenced in  

the first quarter of 2013, will include a downhole electromagnetic 

survey to delineate existing data and provide background for further 

targeting of economic resources at depth beyond the 380ml.  

subject to completion of this exploration programme, potential 

addition of new resources and movements in commodity prices, 

mine completion is expected to occur during the september 

quarter 2013.

Fleurieu Exploration project 
(Terramin 100%)

the fleurieu project comprises five contiguous exploration 

licences (el4936, Bremer; el5078, Hartley; el4210, currency 

creek; el4466, langhorne creek; el5102, Pfeiffer) which together 

cover an area of 1,186km2. the tenements cover an elongated zone 

stretching 60km northeast and southwest of the Angas Zinc mine. 

drilling in 2013 at the Pipeline Prospect confirmed the presence 

of a large shallow copper-gold system. intersections include; 

•	 Plsl006 from 17m, 6m @ 0.17% cu and 0.62g/t Au, 

•	 Plsl007 from 22m, 2m @ 0.29% cu and 0.52g/t Au and 

•	 Plsl011 from 22m, 3m @ 0.66% cu and 0.25g/t Au. 

in addition to the Pipeline gold prospect, the fleurieu exploration 

project incorporates a number of high quality gold and base 

metal prospects.  Priority targets include several electromagnetic 

(em) anomalies that were identified from the 2010 Versatile time 

domain electromagnetic (Vtem) survey that covered a large 

portion of terramin’s fleurieu tenements.  the aerial em 

anomalies have been ranked and a process of refining these 

anomalies with selected ground based geophysical methods has 

been undertaken.

in addition to the identification of several new targets, the Vtem 

survey was beneficial in understanding several of the previously 

explored areas which will allow for better targeting of those 

prospects.  One of the prospects that benefitted from the Vtem 

survey was the freeway prospect where previous sampling by 

north limited in 1995 returned several anomalous gold samples 

up to 9.6g/t gold.  drill testing of the nearby linear magnetic 

anomaly returned no significant results at that time.  the 2010 

Vtem survey showed an em feature in parallel to the magnetic 

feature to the West and that the gold anomalous rock chips 

demonstrate a stronger correlation with the em anomaly.  

fieldwork undertaken in 2012 by terramin has now identified 

subcropping quartz and gossans that have returned +1g/t gold 

over 800 metres of strike with peak results of 0.38% copper and 

2.05g/t gold.

oued Amizour Zinc project 
(Terramin 65%)

the company continues to liaise with its joint venture partner  

to determine a path forward and is assessing all avenues to 

progress the tala Hamza project.  the company pursued several 

options during 2012, including the potential sale of terramin’s 

interest in the project. in conjunction with the financial restructure 

and capital raising which took place in late 2012, terramin 

discontinued the proposed sale of its interest in the tala Hamza 

project to major shareholder nfc and remains focussed on 

progressing the project with its JV partner. subsequent to the year 

end, the Group has met with key stakeholders in Algeria to 

discuss progress to date and reiterate the company’s 

commitment and willingness to progress the project in 2013.

the visit in January 2013 included a meeting with the Australian 

Ambassador to Algeria and meetings with the JV partner, enOf, 

as well as with regional authorities and elected members of the 

regional and national Assemblies.  discussions centred on the 

need to agree a path forward for the project. the tala Hamza 

project is of regional and national importance, because of its size, 

because it would be the first significant mining project to be 

approved in Algeria in many years, and because of the 

employment opportunities that the project would offer. 

specifically, the opening of new mines is a priority for the Algerian 

government as the Prime minister, Abdelmalek sellal, highlighted 

in the government plan of action published in late september 

2012.

the Algerian regulator has advised that the renewal of the Oued 

Amizour exploration permit will be finalised upon an agreement 

being reached with the JV partner on the definitive feasibility study. 

Menninnie Zinc project

(Terramin 100%, farm-out joint venture)

the company announced the execution of a Heads of Agreement 

with musgrave minerals limited (musgrave) in October 2012.   

All the conditions included in this Heads of Agreement have  

been satisfied.

musgrave commenced exploration drilling on several menninnie 

dam prospects in the fourth quarter of 2012.

during the year, menninnie metals applied for additional 

exploration tenements to extend the company’s interests in this 

highly prospective area.  the tenement applications (elA 2012/ 

00299, unalla and elA2012/00316, mt ive) are located to the 

West of, and are contiguous with, the taringa tenement.   

they cover 548km2 and are prospective for base metals,  

silver and gold.
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corporate
during the year, the company underwent a significant financial 

restructure, which included a placement and underwritten 

renounceable rights issue which raised $10 million.  the rights 

issue was completed in december 2012.  upon completion of  

the capital raising, new cornerstone investors Asipac and tronic 

enterprise development limited held 37.01% and 7.27% of 

issued capital respectively.  the capital raising will allow the 

company to advance south Australian exploration interests and 

progress the company’s tala Hamza project.  upon completion 

of the entitlement offer, the company applied $3 million of the 

proceeds to the corporate revolving facility held with investec 

Bank (Australia) limited (investec).   

the repayment reduced the balance of the corporate revolving 

facility to $15.5 million at 31 december 2012.

total options on issue by the company reduced by 2,425,000  

due to the cancellation of options. 

Business development Activities
throughout 2012, the company continued to identify, assess 

and, where appropriate, pursue the acquisition of interests in 

advanced mining projects.  in addition, the company has sought 

wherever possible to reduce expenditure, including reducing 

corporate overheads and employee expenses through 

restructuring and relocating the corporate office.  

SigNifiCaNT ChaNgES iN  
STaTE Of affairS
no significant change in the state of affairs of the Group occurred 

during the financial year, other than as already referred to 

elsewhere in this report.

SubSEquENT EvENTS
subsequent to balance date, the company repaid $5.0 million  

of the Bank loans and agreed with investec to restructure the 

corporate revolving facility such that the $10.5 million remaining 

to be paid is due on 30 september 2013. Prior to the restructure, 

$7.0 million was due to be paid on 28 february 2013 with $8.5 

million payable on 30 June 2013.

in addition, the Group has agreed a restructure of convertible 

notes maturing in 2013.  the maturity date of the us$15 million 

unlisted convertible notes held by Asipac has been deferred from 

16 september 2013 to 31 may 2014. the maturity date of the $5 

million unlisted convertible notes held by an institutional investor 

has been deferred from 17 september 2013 to 31 July 2014.

in the directors’ opinion, no further events or circumstances have 

arisen since the end of the financial year that have significantly 

affected or may significantly affect the operations of the 

company or the Group, the results of those operations, or the 

state of affairs of the Group in future years that have not been 

otherwise disclosed in this report.

fuTurE DEvElOPMENTS
the company intends to continue to undertake appropriate 

exploration and evaluation expenditure, thereby enabling it to 

maintain good title to all its prospective mineral properties until 

decisions can be made to successfully develop and exploit, sell 

or abandon such properties. new projects will continue to be 

sought and evaluated. 

ENvirONMENTal MaNagEMENT
the Group (in particular the company’s Angas Zinc mine)  

is subject to significant environmental regulation under both 

commonwealth and south Australian legislation in relation to  

its exploration, development and mining activities. exploration 

licences and mining leases are issued subject to various 

obligations as to environmental monitoring and rehabilitation,  

and ongoing compliance with all relevant legislative obligations. 

the Group’s directors, employees and consultants are committed 

to achieving a high standard of environmental performance and, 

in this regard, the Board has an established and active risk & 

compliance committee.

in late 2011, an environmental direction was issued by the mine 

regulator, the department for manufacturing, innovation, trade, 

resources and energy (dmitre), relating to compliance of the 

tailings storage facility (tsf) water release plans and associated 

actions. management of water in the tsf was a matter of intense 

focus during 2012 and improvements in evaporation techniques, 

raw water disposal and the use of the pipeline for providing clean 

water to local primary producers resulted in a significant drop in 

the water level. At the end of 2012, the tsf level was deemed  

by the regulator dmitre to be compliant with the terms of the 

environmental direction. Water management continues to be an 

ongoing focus for the management team to ensure that the tsf 

remains within agreed parameters, as defined in the mining and 

rehabilitation Plan.

insofar as the directors are aware, there have been no other 

material breaches or other material instances of non-compliance, 

nor any recorded known areas of outstanding non-compliance, 

with any applicable environmental legislation or other regulations.

COrPOraTE gOvErNaNCE
the Board acknowledges and endorses the AsX corporate 

Governance council’s “Corporate Governance Principles and 

Recommendations – 2nd Edition” (ASX Recommendations).  

the Board continually monitors and reviews its existing and 

required policies, charters and procedures with a view to ensuring 

its compliance with the AsX recommendations to the extent 

deemed appropriate for the size of the company and its 

development status.  

A summary of the company’s ongoing corporate governance 

practices is set out annually in the company’s annual report.  

Directors’ Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2012 (continued)
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Good corporate governance practices are also supported by the 

ongoing activities of the following Board committees: 

•	 Audit committee

•	 nominations & remuneration committee

•	 risk & compliance committee

SharE CaPiTal

(a) ordinary shares
As at 31 december 2012, there were 718,881,339 fully paid 

ordinary shares in the capital of the company on issue. At the 

date of this report there are 775,729,214 fully paid ordinary shares 

in the capital of the company on issue.

(b) Unlisted options outstanding at the  
 date of this report
As at 31 december 2012 there were 4,170,000 unlisted options 

over fully paid ordinary shares in the capital of the company on 

issue.

 exercise number of
expiry date price $ options on issue

20-Jan-13 1.08 100,000

20-Jan-13 1.12 100,000

23-Jan-13 2.66 275,000

20-Jul-13 2.45 575,000

31-Aug-13 1.00 1,800,000

7-sep-13 2.12 20,000

20-Jan-15 1.17 1,000,000

7-Apr-16 0.53 300,000

Total  4,170,000

no person entitled to exercise an option had or has any right by 

virtue of the option to participate in any share issue of the 

company or any other body corporate.

(c) Unlisted options exercised/cancelled 
 during the year
there were no unlisted options over fully paid ordinary shares in 

the capital of the company exercised during the period. during 

the year 2,425,000 options were cancelled.

(d) Unlisted options exercised/cancelled 
 since 31 december 2012 
no unlisted options over fully paid shares in the company have 

been exercised since 31 december 2012.  in January 2013, 

475,000 options were cancelled following their expiry. 

rEMuNEraTiON rEPOrT - auDiTED
this remuneration report for the year ended 31 december 2012 

outlines the remuneration arrangements of the company in 

accordance with requirements of the Corporations Act 2001  

(the Act) and its regulations. this information has been audited  

as required by section 308(3c) of the Act.

the remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements 

for Key management Personnel (KmP) who are defined as those 

persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing 

and controlling the major activities of the company. the 

information regarding remuneration and entitlements of the 

company’s Board and KmP required for the purposes of section 

300A of the Act is provided below.

the following persons were directors of the company during the 

financial year and up until the date of this report unless stated 

otherwise:

(i) Executive Directors 

 mr nm clift managing Director and CEO 

(ii) Non-Executive Directors 

 mr mH Kennedy interim chairman (Independent) 

 mr P Zachert (Independent) 

 mr Y Xie (Non-Independent)

 mr A siciliano (Non-Independent –  

  Appointed 2 January 2013)

 mr sAJ Bonett (Independent – Retired 29 June 2012)

 mr rB davis (Independent – Retired 29 June 2012)

 dr Kc moriarty (Non-Independent –  

  Retired 30 March 2012)

the following persons were both the KmP of the Group, and  

the relevant senior Group executives (collectively Specified 
Executives). KmP are those persons who were able to make  

or participate in making decisions affecting the whole or a 

substantial part of the business of the company or its financial 

standing during the year.  

(iii) Other Key Management Personnel 
 mr Jf ranford General Manager Angas Zinc Mine

 mr sd reincke General Manager - Finance  

  (Ceased 28 February 2013)

 mr sd Gauducheau Legal Counsel & Company Secretary

 mr J Burgess General Manager Tala Hamza Project 

 mr mJ terry Chief Financial Officer  

  (Ceased 3 August 2012)

 mr iJ Holman Chief Mining Engineer  

  (Ceased 3 August 2012)

Other than those outlined above, there were no other changes to 

KmP after the reporting date and before the date the financial 

report was authorised for issue.
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(a) Remuneration Report and practices
this report outlines the remuneration arrangements for directors 

and specified executives of the company.  it is recognised that 

the performance of the company depends on the quality and 

skills of its directors and executives.  the Board is mindful of  

the need to attract, motivate and retain highly skilled directors 

and executives.  to this end, the company strives, by way of the 

Board and its nominations & remuneration committee, to devise 

and offer remuneration packages that are competitive, 

transparent and justifiable to shareholders.

compensation for directors and specified executives of the 

Group are competitively set to attract and retain appropriately 

qualified and experienced directors and executives.  in 2011, the 

nominations & remuneration committee obtained independent 

advice on the appropriateness of remuneration packages of the 

Group given trends in comparative companies both locally and 

internationally, and the objectives of the Group’s remuneration 

strategy.  these objectives are achieved through the development 

and implementation of policies and practices which support the 

key principles underlying the company’s remuneration policy:

•	 to provide competitive remuneration to attract high calibre 

people;

•	 to actively consult with the established nominations & 

remuneration committee in determining remuneration 

policies and practices;

•	 to have reference to independent advice and confirmation 

where appropriate;

•	 to establish appropriately demanding hurdles in relation to 

performance based remuneration; and

•	 to link executive director and senior management reward to 
the creation of superior shareholder value and/or company 
milestones and production targets.

the remuneration structures outlined below are designed to attract 

suitably qualified candidates, reward the achievement of strategic 

objectives, and achieve the broader outcome of creation of value 

for shareholders. the diagram below illustrates how the company’s 

remuneration structures align with the overall company strategy 

and links between remuneration outcomes and performance:

Nominations and Remuneration Committee

the current members of the committee are mr P Zachert (chair) 

and mr mH Kennedy.  the objectives of the committee are to 

assist the Board to:

•	 ensure it is of an effective composition, size and commitment 

to adequately discharge its responsibilities and duties; and

•	 independently ensure that the company adopts and complies 

with remuneration policies that:

 – attract, retain and motivate high calibre executives and 

directors so as to encourage enhanced performance by 

the company;

 – are consistent with the human resource needs of the 

company;

 – motivate directors and management to pursue the 

long-term growth and success of the company within  

an appropriate control framework and ensure that 

shareholder and employee interests are aligned;

 – demonstrate a clear relationship between key executive 

performance and remuneration; and

 – are consistent with current governance and legal 

developments.

Business Objective

To focus on the mining, development of and exploration for base metals (in particular zinc and lead) and other economic mineral deposits

Key principles linking remuneration structure to business objective

•	 To provide competitive remuneration to attract high calibre people
•	 To actively consult with the established Nominations & Remuneration Committee in determining remuneration policies and practices
•	 To have reference to independent advice and confirmation where appropriate
•	 To establish appropriately demanding hurdles in relation to performance based remuneration
•	 To link Executive Director and senior management incentive reward to the creation of superior shareholder value and/or Company milestones and production targets

Remuneration Component Vehicle Purpose Link to performance

Fixed remuneration •	 Base salary 
•	 Contract payments 
•	 Superannuation 

contributions 
•	 Other benefits

Provide competitive remuneration to 
attract high calibre people

Executive performance and remuneration packages 
are reviewed at least annually by the Nominations 
& Remuneration Committee. The review process 
includes consideration of individual performance in 
addition to the overall performance of the Group.

Performance based:  
Short-term incentive (STI)

•	 Cash bonus 
•	 Equity bonus

Provide reward to executives for 
achievement of individual and group 
performance hurdles

Award of STI linked directly to achievement  
of KPIs and performance hurdles.

Performance based:  
Long-term incentive (LTI)

•	 Share Options Reward for contribution to creation of 
long-term shareholder value

Award of LTI linked directly to achievement  
of KPIs and performance hurdles.

Directors’ Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2012 (continued)
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to ensure the nominations & remuneration committee is fully 

informed when making remuneration decisions, it seeks external 

remuneration advice. Amendments to the corporations Act 

introduced in 2011 impact how companies can seek advice in 

relation to remuneration recommendations for Key management 

Personnel (KmP) remuneration. during the year, the Board did not 

engage further with external remuneration advisors and made 

reference to reports provided by advisors in 2011.  

Remuneration report approval

At the most recent AGm held in may 2012, the Group received a 

first strike in relation to the 2011 remuneration report. the Board 

have considered the reasons for this result and sought feedback 

in relation to the remuneration report. subsequent to the 2012 

AGm, the company undertook a corporate restructure which 

resulted in a significant reduction in staff numbers and total 

remuneration. this action was taken to address the ongoing 

requirements of the company and through consideration of the 

negative vote on the 2011 remuneration report. the Group will 

continue to seek feedback on the remuneration report and to this 

end, seeks annual feedback from the Australian shareholders 

Association and monitors releases from Asic with respect to 

best-practice remuneration processes.

Group performance

As outlined above, the policy for determining the nature and amount 

of remuneration of the KmP includes consideration of individual 

performance in addition to the overall performance of the Group.

consideration of the overall performance of the Group and 

impact on shareholder wealth is determined by the achievement 

of overall Group performance and strategic objectives. these 

objectives include financial, production, growth and sustainability. 

these principles were considered when reviewing the 

performance of KmP for 2012. 

the table outlined below reflects the performance of the group for 

2012. Based on operating metrics, the company has delivered a 

strong operational performance from its Angas Zinc mine during 

2012. the Group continued to focus on improving the financial 

position of the company, which included a $10 million equity 

raising in december 2012 and a restructure of debt facilities. 

despite the strong operational performance, the company has 

experienced continuing depression in the share price and a 

significant loss in 2012 as a result of a non-cash impairment 

charge in June 2012. the impairment charge was primarily a 

reflection of lower Aud commodity prices negatively impacting 

on economic reserves, Angas mine life and resulting discounted 

cashflows.

Zinc and lead concentrate production both recorded a 41% 

increase on the prior year, producing 61,720 tonnes and 25,465 

tonnes respectively. this result exceeded the market targets of 

57,000 tonnes of zinc concentrate and 20,000 tonnes of lead 

concentrate. the mine also surpassed benchmarks for total ore 

mined and processed for the year. 

in the area of sustainability there has been continued 

improvement in safety performance with the total recordable 

injury frequency rate per one million hours reduced from 47.90 at 

december 2011 to 24.10 at december 2012. there were no 

permanent or serious disabling injuries in 2012. in addition, the 

company was successful in meeting the environmental direction 

in relation to the tsf water level at the Angas Zinc mine.

in the area of Growth, the Group continues to pursue progress for 

the tala Hamza project in Algeria. As outlined in the review of 

Operations, the company pursued several avenues to realise 

value for the tala Hamza project during 2012. 

the Group remains confident that the financial restructure, 

coupled with the dialogue established during 2012 and 2013, will 

enable terramin to make headway in these discussions and 

achieve tangible outcomes during 2013.

A summary of the Group’s business performance, as measured  

by a range of financial and other indicators, is outlined in the  

table below.

Measure 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

Cash and cash 
equivalents at year end 
- $m 

10.87 7.50 9.55 21.90 14.5

Net cash inflow/(outflow) 
from operating activities 
- $m 

4.94 4.49 12.89 (7.95) 1.56

Share price change 
during year - $

(0.08) (0.35) (0.33) 0.36 (3.13)

Zinc Concentrate (dmt) 61,720 43,738 44,847 45,583 14,779

Lead concentrate (dmt) 25,465 18,079 16,972 17,735 5,550

Total ore mined (tonnes) 434,176 412,441 387,169 357,219 112,417

Total ore milled (tonnes) 441,987 401,496 392,144 342,953 122,016

RemuNeRaTioN aNd iNCeNTive STRuCTuReS

executives

Fixed Remuneration

the fixed portion of executive remuneration packages comprises 

a base salary, statutory superannuation payment and fBt 

charges related to employee benefits, such as car parking.  

executive performance and remuneration packages are reviewed 

at least annually by the nominations and remuneration committee. 

the review process includes consideration of both individual 

performance and the overall performance of the Group. in addition, 

remuneration consultants provide further analysis and advice to 

ensure that compensation remains competitive and appropriate.
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Performance Based Remuneration and Entitlements

Performance based remuneration may include both short-term and 

long-term incentives, and is designed to reward KmP for meeting 

or exceeding key performance indicators (KPis). KPis may include 

financial metrics, production outcomes and completion of key 

Group objectives. the Board will from time to time approve the 

award of such incentives subject to satisfaction of KPis. the short- 

term incentive (sti) is an “at risk” bonus which may be provided 

in the form of cash and/or equity securities. there are no current 

fixed stis in place with current KmP. the long-term incentive (lti) 

is provided under the terramin Australia employee Option Plan 

(eOP) or the terramin Australia long-term incentive Plan (ltiP). 

the grant of options or other bonuses is directly linked to the 

achievement of specific company objectives (such as operational 

milestones) with, where possible, a direct link to the creation of 

shareholder value. there were no issues made under the ltiP 

during the year.

the Group has a policy that prohibits those that are granted 

share-based payments as part of their remuneration from entering 

into other arrangements that limit their exposure to losses that 

would result from share price decreases. entering into such 

arrangements has been prohibited by law since 1 July 2011.

directors

Remuneration and Incentives

the maximum aggregate fee payable to non-executive directors 

is subject to approval by shareholders at a general meeting (the 

current limit is $700,000). All securities issued to directors and 

related parties must be approved by shareholders at general 

meeting.  non-executive directors are either paid a base fee plus 

superannuation, or remunerated via contractual arrangements 

approved by the Board and negotiated in consultation with the 

nominations & remuneration committee. the current non-

executive base fees are presently $40,000 per annum based on 

advice from external advisors with reference to fees paid to other 

non-executive directors of comparable companies. company 

policy supports the issue, where appropriate, of equity securities 

to directors (whether executive or non-executive) to help ensure 

directors’ interests are aligned with those of shareholders.

Director Options

there were no options or other equity securities issued to 

directors or KmP during the year as remuneration.

Retirement or other Post Employment Benefits

Historically, the company has not provided benefits to its 

directors or executives upon their retirement or otherwise upon 

cessation of employment, other than by making the statutory 

superannuation guarantee contributions as required by law.  

Board and Committees – Membership and Remuneration

the following table sets out the chair and members of each 

committee and the fees allocated for each position. 

  Chairman Fee Member Fee 
Committee  $ $

each non-executive director   100,000 40,000

Tala Hamza Risk Assessment

rB davis (chair), sAJ Bonett  
(discontinued in 2012)  25,000 10,000

Audit

P Zachert (chair), mH Kennedy,  
sAJ Bonett (not replaced)  15,000 10,000

Risk & Compliance

mH Kennedy (chair), P Zachert  15,000 10,000

Nominations & Remuneration

sAJ Bonett replaced by P Zachert  
in July 2012 (chair), mH Kennedy,  
rB davis (not replaced)  15,000 10,000

Due Diligence 1

sAJ Bonett (chair), rB davis  30,000 15,000

Due Diligence 2

P Zachert (chair), mH Kennedy  17,500 10,000

1. Ad-hoc Committee created in September 2011 to oversee the capital 
raising and disclosure process of the Company until March 2012.

2. Ad-hoc Committee created in August 2012 to oversee the 
renounceable rights issue and placement of shares until  
December 2012.

Directors’ Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2012 (continued)
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(b) parent Entity directors’ and specified Executives’ Remuneration and Entitlements
during the period, the following cash and non-cash payments were made to the directors and KmP (who are also the relevant Group 

executives for the purpose of s.300A(c)(iii) of the Act): 

  Short term Post Long-term Share-based payments Total 
   Employment benefits 
      Super- Termi- Long 
   Salary  Contract Cash annuation nation service Share    
   & fees payments bonus benefits benefits leave options Shares %

Executive  
Directors

nm clift 1 2012 400,000 – – 36,000 – 2,935 – – 0% 438,935 
  2011 136,063 120,311 – 9,974 – 532 35,770 – 12% 302,650

Non-Executive  
Directors 2

mH Kennedy 3 2012 105,505 – – 9,495 – – – – 0% 115,000 
  2011 68,807 – – 6,193 – – – – 0% 75,000

P Zachert 2012 – 90,000 – – – – – – 0% 90,000 
  2011 – 65,000 – – – – – – 0% 65,000

Y Xie 2012 – 40,000 – – – – – – 0% 40,000 
  2011 – 43,333 – – – – – – 0% 43,333

rB davis 4 2012 45,872 – – 4,128 – – – – 0% 50,000 
  2011 96,124 – – 8,651 – – – – 0% 104,775

sA Bonett 5 2012 34,404 – – 3,096 – – – – 0% 37,500 
  2011 114,534 – – 10,308 – – – – 0% 124,842

Kc moriarty 6 2012 – 80,000 – – – – – – 0% 80,000 
  2011 – 533,267 – – – – – – 0% 533,267

Key Management  
Personnel

Jf ranford 7 2012 183,526 – – 16,517 – 860 – – 0% 200,903

sd Gauducheau 8 2012 163,174 – 42,500 18,511 – 3,963 – – 0% 228,148

sd reincke 9 2012 160,667 – 27,500 16,935 – 1,824 – – 0% 206,926

J Burgess 2012 – 72,150 – – – – – – 0% 72,150 
  2011 – 207,000 – – – – – – 0% 207,000

mJ terry 10 2012 193,818 – – 13,878 130,628 – – – 0% 338,324 
  2011 252,500 – – 22,725 – – – – 0% 275,225

rB Howie 11 2012 32,059 – – 3,788 26,453 – – – 0% 62,300 
  2011 275,100 – – 24,759 – – – 60,308 17% 360,167

iJ Holman 12 2012 155,298 – – 10,709 19,736 – – – 0% 185,743 
  2011 232,638 – – 20,937 – – – – 0% 253,575

Total 2012 1,474,323 282,150 70,000 133,057 176,817 9,582 – – 0% 2,145,929 
Total 2011 1,175,766 968,911 – 103,547 – 532 35,770 60,308 4% 2,344,834

1. Mr Clift was appointed to the role of Managing Director and CEO on 26 September 2011. Prior to this appointment, he was  
General Manager – Algeria from 23 August 2010.

2. Refer to page 20 of the Directors’ Report for details of Non-Executive Directors’ fees allocated by role.

3. Mr Kennedy was appointed Interim Chairman on 29 June 2012.

4. Mr Davis was appointed Chairman of the Board on 30 May 2011 and retired on 29 June 2012.

5. Mr Bonett retired from the Board on 29 June 2012.

6. Dr Moriarty retired from the Board on 30 March 2012.

7. Mr Ranford was appointed as General Manager – Angas Zinc Mine on 26 April 2012.

8. Mr Gauducheau became a Senior Group Executive following the corporate restructure in 2012.

9. Mr Reincke became a Senior Group Executive following the corporate restructure in 2012.

10. Mr Terry ceased employement as Chief Financial Officer on 3 August 2012.

11. Mr Howie ceased employment as General Manager – Angas Zinc Mine on 20 January 2012.

12. Mr Holman ceased employment as Chief Engineer on 3 August 2012.
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the aggregate fees paid to non-executive directors during 2012 

was $412,500 compared to the maximum limit approved by 

shareholders at the 2010 Annual General meeting of $700,000.

All company employees and contractors, directors and specified 

executives are subject to the company’s share trading Policy 

(available on the company’s website) with respect to limiting their 

exposure to risk in relation to the company’s securities, including 

securities issued as an element of executive remuneration.  the 

company’s share trading Policy requires all officers, employees 

and key consultants to the company to notify the chairman and 

company secretary of any intention to deal in the company’s 

securities, whether by sale or purchase of shares on market, or 

the exercise of options.  the notified dealing is subject to the 

approval of the chairman.  in addition, and in accordance with 

AsX lr 12, the trading policy provides that all directors, officers 

and consultants are prohibited from trading in the company’s 

securities during specific periods. the Board considers that, in 

light of the size and structure of the company and the absence of 

a secondary market for the company’s securities, this policy 

provides adequate protection against unauthorised dealings by 

directors and specified executives, in particular in relation to risk 

mitigation.

A discretionary cash bonus was approved by the Board during 

the year based on individual performance.

(c) shares and options Issued or Lapsed 
 during the Year
no share options were exercised by or granted to directors or 

KmPs as remuneration during the year.  the table below discloses 

the number of share options which lapsed during the year.

31 December 
2012

Year Award date Vesting date No.lapsed  
during the year

J Burgess 2007 23-Feb-07 23-Feb-08 75,000

J Burgess 2007 23-Feb-07 21-Sep-08 150,000

J Burgess 2007 23-Feb-07 23-Feb-09 75,000

M Terry 2007 18-Jun-07 17-Jun-08 75,000

M Terry 2007 18-Jun-07 17-Jun-08 75,000

(d) contracts and Agreements

the company is operating in an environment where there is 

significant competition for skilled staff and contractors. to help 

ensure project continuity, the following arrangements are currently 

in place.

the company has employment or consultancy agreements with 

each KmP. under the standard employment agreement, either 

party may terminate the agreement on the provision of an agreed 

notice period, or if terminated by the employer a payment in lieu 

of notice for a period no longer than the agreed notice period.   

On termination, KmP are also entitled to receive statutory 

entitlements of accrued annual and long service leave plus 

superannuation benefits. terramin observes the statutory 

entitlement limits on termination payments. there is no entitlement 

to a termination payment in the event of removal for misconduct.

notice periods for relevant individuals are outlined below:

 mr nm clift 6 months

 mr sd reincke 1 month

 mr J Burgess 3 months

 mr s Gauducheau 2 months 

mr J ranford 6 months

Agreements with KmP that differ from the standard arrangements 

above are detailed below:

Mr Nicholas Clift Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer

mr clift has an employment agreement with the company dated 

17 september 2011. the agreement specifies the duties and 

obligations to be fulfilled by mr clift as ceO and managing 

director. the agreement provides that the Board will review the 

agreement in the first quarter of each calendar year (with exception 

of first year of employment) and performance annually in the last 

quarter of the calendar year. 

the agreement is on an ongoing basis and entitles the employer 

to terminate the agreement upon giving 6 months’ notice of 

termination or payment in lieu of all or part thereof. the employer 

may, in its absolute discretion, elect to pay the employee in lieu of 

all or part of the notice period and/or may require the employee 

not to attend work during all or part of the notice period.

Mr John Burgess General Manager Tala Hamza Project

in febuary 2012, a new contract was signed by mr Burgess to 

provide his services to the company as General manager tala 

Hamza Project at a daily rate of $1,100 plus Gst.  the contract is 

for a fixed period of 3 years, with an option to renew for a further 2 

years at the election of the company. the consultancy 

arrangement between mr Burgess’ company and the company 

entitles either party to terminate the agreement upon the giving of 

3 month’s notice in writing.  Apart from outstanding consultancy 

fees incurred under the arrangement, no entitlements are payable 

upon termination of this agreement.

iNDEMNifiCaTiON Of DirECTOrS  
aND OffiCErS
directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance has been secured to 

insure the directors, officers and senior executives of the Group 

to the extent permitted by the Corporations Act.  the officers of 

the company and the Group covered by the insurance policy 

includes any person acting in the course of duties for the 

company or the Group who is or was a director, secretary or 

senior executive.  the contract of insurance prohibits the 

disclosure of the nature of the liability covered and the amount of 

the premium.

Directors’ Report for the Year Ended 31 December 2012 (continued)

22



dIREcToRs’ REpoRT

the Group has not otherwise, during or since the end of the 

period, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of 

the Group or any related body corporate against a liability 

incurred as such an officer or auditor.

NON-auDiT SErviCES
Additional services provided during the period by the company’s 

auditors, KPmG, included due diligence advice for the company 

and Group in Australia.  fees paid for these services totalled 

$3,000 for the year and have been accounted for as 

administrative expenses.  in accordance with advice from 

terramin’s Audit committee, the directors are satisfied that the 

provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general 

standard of independence for auditors imposed by the 

Corporations Act.  Also in accordance with the advice of the 

Audit committee, the directors are satisfied that the nature and 

scope of each type of non-audit service provided means that 

auditor independence was not compromised.

auDiTOr’S iNDEPENDENCE 
DEClaraTiON
the auditor’s independence declaration for the year ended  

31 december 2012 can be found on page 25 and forms part  

of the directors’ report.

liTigaTiON
As at the date of this report, no person has applied to the court 

under section 237 of the Act for leave to bring proceedings on 

behalf of the company or intervene in any proceedings to which 

the company is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility  

on behalf of the company of all or any part of those proceedings.  

no proceedings have been brought or intervened in on behalf of 

the company with leave of the court under section 237 of the Act.

rOuNDiNg
the company is of a kind referred to in Asic class Order 98/100 

dated 10 July 1998 in accordance with the class order, amounts 

in the financial reports have been rounded off to the nearest 

thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated. 

 

signed in Adelaide this 28th day of march 2013 in accordance 

with a resolution of the Board of directors.

Nicholas M Clift Peter Zachert 
Managing Director Director
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Directors’ Declaration

the directors of the company declare that:

1. the financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 29 to 56, and the remuneration disclosures contained in pages 17 to 22  

of the directors’ report, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, and:

(a) comply with Accounting standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001; and

(b) give a true and fair view of the financial position as at 31 december 2012 and of the performance for the year ended  

on that date of the company and the economic entity;

2. the managing director and financial controller have each declared that:

(a)  the financial records of the company for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with  

section 286 of the Corporations Act 2001;

(b)  the financial statements and notes for the financial year comply with the Accounting standards; 

(c)  the declaration is provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 and is founded on a sound  

system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all material respects in  

relation to financial reporting risks; and  

(d)  the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view;

3. in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts  

as and when they become due and payable;

4. the consolidated financial statements comply with international financial reporting standards as disclosed in note 2(a).

this declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Board of directors.

Nicholas M Clift      Peter Zachert 
Managing Director      Director 

28 march 2013      28 march 2013
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Independent Audit Report (continued)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the Year Ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011
 Note $’000 $’000

revenue 4  71,412 58,167

Other income 4  6 57

raw materials, consumables and other direct costs    (56,182) (46,797)

change in inventories of finished goods and WiP    (45) 4,154

employee expenses    (4,457) (2,988)

depreciation and amortisation 10  (26,776) (26,348)

exploration and evaluation write down 11   (4,214) –

impairment of non-current assets 11   (33,532) –

share option expense    – (46)

Other expenses    (3,236) (3,551)

Loss before net financing costs and income tax   (57,024) (17,352)

    

finance income 6 1,884 3,878

finance costs 6 (10,037) (6,166)

Net finance cost  (8,153) (2,288)

    

Loss before income tax  (65,177) (19,640)

    

income tax expense 18 – –

Loss for the year  (65,177) (19,640)

Attributable to:      

Owners of the company    (65,177) (19,640)

non-controlling interest    – –

Loss for the year    (65,177) (19,640)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)   

foreign currency translation differences for foreign operations  (1,169) (240)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the period,  
net of income tax  (1,169) (240)

Total comprehensive loss for the period  
attributable to equity holders of the Company  (66,346) (19,880)

Earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company:

 Note 2012 2011

Basic earnings/(loss) per share - (cents per share) 26(a) (30.14) (10.67)

diluted earnings/(loss) per share - (cents per share) 26(b) (30.14) (10.67)

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011
 Note $’000 $’000

Assets   

cash and cash equivalents 7  10,865  7,502

trade and other receivables 9 6,233  6,478

inventories 8  7,276  7,950

derivative financial instruments 21  – 892

Other assets    317 56

Total current assets  24,691 22,878

    

derivative financial instruments 21  – 156

Property, plant and equipment 10(a)  10,943 69,960

exploration and evaluation 10(b)  47,374 50,605

Total non-current assets  58,317 120,721

TOTAL ASSETS  83,008 143,599

Liabilities

Current Liabilities   

trade and other payables 12 11,697 12,031

loans and borrowings 13 36,373 10,508

Provisions 14 2,801 1,152

derivative financial instruments 21 1,687 20

Total current liabilities  52,558 23,711

Non-current Liabilities   

loans and borrowings 13 10,420 42,590

Provisions 14 5,411 6,140

derivative financial instruments 21  – 10

Total non-current liabilities  15,831 48,740

TOTAL LIABILITIES  68,389 72,451

NET ASSETS  14,619 71,148

     

Equity   

share capital 15 143,699 133,882

reserves 16 2,525 3,694

Accumulated losses  (146,620) (81,508)

Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Company  (396) 56,068

Non-controlling interest 17 15,015 15,080

TOTAL EQUITY  14,619 71,148

    

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

30 TERRAMIN AustrAliA limited
2012  finAnciAl rePOrt



Consolidated Statement of Change In Equity 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2012

   share    non-  
  share option translation Accumulated  controlling Total
  capital reserve reserve losses Total interest equity
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2012
Balance at 1 January 2012       133,882           8,966           (5,272)           (81,508)  56,068   15,080    71,148  

Total comprehensive income for the period

loss for the period – – – (65,177) (65,177) –  (65,177))

Other comprehensive income   

foreign currency translation differences – – (1,169) – (1,169) –  (1,169)

total other comprehensive income – – (1,169) – (1,169) –  (1,169)

total comprehensive income for the period – – (1,169) (65,177) (66,346) – (66,346)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners       

issue of ordinary shares 10,458 – – – 10,458 –  10,458 

share issue costs (641) – – – (641) –  (641) 

total contributions by and distributions to owners 9,817 – – – 9,817 –  9,817 

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries  
that do not result in a loss on control       

non-controlling interest share  
of parent exploration expenditure – – – 65 65 (65)  – 

total changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries  – – –   65 65 (65) –

Balance at 31 December 2012 143,699          8,966           (6,441)         (146,620)  (396) 15,015 14,619

2011
Balance at 1 January 2011        120,014             8,920          (5,032)           (60,873)  63,029    14,085    77,114  

Total comprehensive income for the period 

loss for the period – – – (19,640) (19,640) –  (19,640)

Other comprehensive income 

foreign currency translation differences – – (240) – (240) –  (240)

total other comprehensive income – – (240) – (240) –  (240)

total comprehensive income for the period – – (240) (19,640) (19,880) –  (19,880)

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in equity

Contributions by and distributions to owners

issue of ordinary shares 13,955 – – – 13,955 –  13,955 
share issue costs (87) – – – (87) –  (87)
share options expensed / cancelled – 46 – – 46 –  46 

total contributions by and distributions to owners 13,868 46 – – 13,914 –  13,914 

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries  
that do not result in a loss on control       

non-controlling interest share  
of parent exploration expenditure – – – (995) (995) 995  – 

total changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries  – – –   (995)  (995)  995  –

Balance at 31 December 2011 133,882 8,966  (5,272)  (81,508)  56,068 15,080 71,148

The Consolidated Statement of Change in Equity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2012

  2012 2011
 Note $’000 $’000

Cash from operating activities:   

receipts from customers   72,658 60,136

Payments to suppliers and employees   (64,171) (52,295)

financing costs and interest paid   (3,641) (3,638)

interest received  96 282

Total cash from operating activities 19 4,942 4,485

   

Cash flows from investing activities:   

Proceeds from the sale of fixed assets  54 4

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment  (1,770) (5,719)

mine construction & development expenditure  (525) (8,466)

exploration and evaluation expenditure  (2,762) (5,971)

Net cash (used by) investing activities  (5,003) (20,152)

   

Cash flows from financing activities:   

Proceeds from the issue of share capital  10,040 13,724

Payment of transaction costs on debt and/or equity  (261) (87)

realised derivative gains  1,026 1,488

Proceeds from borrowings   4,028 –

repayment of borrowings  (11,307) (1,409)

Net cash from/(used by) financing activities  3,526 13,716

   

Other activities:   

net  increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  3,465 (1,951)

net foreign exchange differences  (102) (97)

cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  7,502 9,550

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 10,865 7,502

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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1. rEPOrTiNg ENTiTy
the consolidated financial statements cover the economic entity 

of terramin Australia limited and its controlled entities (the Group).  

terramin Australia limited is a listed public company, incorporated 

and domiciled in Adelaide, Australia. the Group is a for-profit 

entity and primarily is involved in the mining and development of, 

and exploration for, base metals (in particular zinc and lead) and 

other economic mineral deposits.

2. baSiS Of PrEParaTiON
(a) Statement of Compliance

the consolidated financial statements are general purpose 

financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with 

Australian Accounting standards (including Australian interpretations) 

adopted by the Australian Accounting standards Board (AAsB) 

and the corporations Act 2001.  the consolidated financial 

statements comply with international financial reporting 

standards (ifrss) and interpretations adopted by the 

international Accounting standards Board (iAsB).

the financial report was authorised for issue by the directors on 

28 march 2013.

(b) Basis of Measurement

the financial statements are presented in Australian dollars (Aud) 

and have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on 

historical costs, except for derivative financial instruments 

measured at fair value.

the Group is of a kind referred to in Asic class Order 98/100 

dated 10 July 1998. in accordance with the class Order, amounts 

in the financial report have been rounded off to the nearest 

thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

(c) Going Concern

the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern 

basis, which contemplates continuity of normal business 

activities and the realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities 

in the ordinary course of business. 

during 2012, the Group incurred a loss of $65.2 million, bringing 

accumulated losses to $146.6 million. As at 31 december 2012 

the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by 

$27.9 million and, while the Group had net assets of $14.6 million, 

the net assets attributable to the equity holders of the company 

were in a deficit of $0.4 million. the Group had operating cash 

inflows of $4.9 million in 2012 that were generated primarily from 

the Angas Zinc mine.

As set out in note 13 to the financial statements, current liabilities 

at 31 december 2012 include:

•	 Bank loans (investec) secured by the Angas Zinc Project of 

$15.5 million; and

•	 convertible notes of $19.4 million.

subsequent to balance date, the company repaid $5.0 million of 

the Bank loans and agreed with investec to restructure the 

corporate revolving facility such that the $10.5 million remaining 

to be paid is due on 30 september 2013. Prior to the restructure, 

$7.0 million was due to be paid on 28 february 2013 with $8.5 

million payable on 30 June 2013. 

the Group is reliant on operational cash flows from its Angas Zinc 

mine, together with the successful sale of plant and equipment 

from the Angas Zinc mine upon its expected closure in the 

september quarter 2013 (unless life of mine is extended),  to 

meet the repayment of the Bank loan by 30 september 2013.

current liabilities at 31 december 2012 also included us$15 

million ($14.4 million) in unlisted convertible redeemable notes 

held by Asipac and $5 million of unlisted convertible notes held 

by an institutional investor. subsequent to balance date, 

agreement was reached with the convertible noteholders to defer 

the maturity date of the usd unlisted convertible redeemable 

notes from 16 september 2013 to 31 may 2014, and to defer 

repayment of the $5 million in unlisted convertible notes from 17 

september 2013 to 31 July 2014. 

As a consequence the Group will have $29 million of convertible 

notes repayable in 2014 (being the $19.4 million detailed above 

and $9.6 million of unlisted convertible redeemable notes held by 

transaminvest s.A.), the settlement of which is expected to 

require further equity raising or the realisation of exploration and 

evaluation assets. 

the financial report has been prepared on a going concern basis 

on the expectation that the Group can raise additional equity 

when required. the Group’s ability to raise equity will rely on 

investor confidence that the $42.6 million investment in the Oued 

Amizour Zinc project can be realised through mining or sale. the 

realisation of the investment in the Oued Amizour project is 

dependent upon agreement being reached with the joint venture 

partner on the definitive feasibility study (refer note 10.(b)).

the directors note that the matters outlined above indicate 

material uncertainty, which may cast significant doubt on the 

ability of the Group to continue as a going concern and therefore 

it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in 

the normal course of business. At the date of this report, the 

directors believe that the Group has adequate resources to 

continue to explore, evaluate and develop the Group’s areas of 

interest and will ensure the company has sufficient funds to meet 

its obligations. subject to market conditions the directors believe 

there are reasonable grounds to conclude that the company will 

be able to raise funds by way of equity to fund anticipated 

activities and meet financial obligations. for the reasons outlined 

above, the Board has prepared the financial report on a going 

concern basis.
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(d) Use of Estimates and Judgements

the preparation of the financial statements in conformity to ifrss 

requires management to make judgements, estimates and 

assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and 

the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. 

Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an 

ongoing basis. revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 

in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future 

periods affected.

in particular, information about significant areas of estimation 

uncertainty and critical judgements in applying accounting policies 

that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised 

in the financial statements are described in the following notes:

•	 note 3(f) – impairment of assets: estimates of fair values and 

future cash flows.  the key sensitivities in the value in use 

model for the Angas Zinc mine relate to zinc and lead prices 

and the usd to Aud exchange rate.  recognised analyst 

forecast assumptions and market forward curves for 

commodity prices and exchange rates have been considered 

in determining the cash flow estimates.   

•	 note 3(g) – Ore reserves: estimates of the amount of product 

in an area of interest that can be expected to be profitably 

extracted, processed and sold under current and foreseeable 

economic conditions.

•	 note 3(i) - exploration and evaluation expenditure: 

recoverable amount and ore reserve estimates.

•	 note 3(k) – mine rehabilitation provision: estimates of amount 

and timing of future mine closure costs. 

•	 note 3(l) - share Based entitlements and Payments: 

assumptions are required to be made in respect to measuring 

share price volatility, dividend yield, future option holding period 

and other inputs to the trinomial model fair value calculations. 

•	 note 3(r) - recognition of tax losses: assessment of the point 

in time at which it is deemed probable that future taxable 

income will be derived. 

(e) Changes in Accounting Standards

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and 

interpretations are effective for annual periods beginning after  

1 January 2012, and have not been applied in preparing these 

consolidated financial statements.  none of these is expected to 

have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group, except for AAsB 9 financial instruments, which 

becomes mandatory for the Group’s 2016 consolidated financial 

statements and could change the classification and measurement 

of financial liabilities.  the Group does not plan to adopt this 

standard early and the extent of the impact has not been determined.

3. SigNifiCaNT aCCOuNTiNg 
POliCiES

(a) Basis of Consolidation

A controlled entity is any entity in respect of which the company 

has the power to control the financial and operating policies so as 

to obtain benefits from its activities. refer to note 23 for details of 

controlled entities.

each controlled entity has a 31 december financial year end.

All inter-company balances and transactions between entities in 

the Group, including any unrealised profits and losses, have been 

eliminated on consolidation.  Accounting policies of the controlled 

entities have been changed when necessary to ensure 

consistency with those policies applied by the company.

Where a controlled entity joined the Group during the year, the 

operating results have been included from the date control was 

obtained.  non-controlling interest in the equity and results of the 

controlled entities are shown as a separate item in the 

consolidated financial report.

(b) Cash and Cash Equivalents

cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held 

at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with 

original maturities of four months or less.

(c) Inventories

raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods 

are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. the cost of 

mining stocks include direct material, direct labour, transportation 

costs and a proportion of variable and fixed overhead costs 

relating to mining activities. net realisable value is the amount to 

be obtained from the sale of the item of inventory in the normal 

course of business less the estimated costs of completion and 

any anticipated selling costs to be incurred prior to its sale.

(d) Trade and Other Receivables

trade and other receivables are recognised at cost and carried at 

original invoice amount less allowances for impairment losses.

impairment of receivables is not recognised until objective 

evidence is available that a loss event has occurred.  significant 

receivables are individually assessed for impairment.

(e) Property, Plant and Equipment

Property

freehold land is measured at cost and buildings are measured at 

amortised cost. 

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis less 

depreciation and any impairment losses recognised.
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the depreciable amount of all property, plant and equipment, 

excluding freehold land, is depreciated on either a diminishing 

value, straight line or units of use basis over their useful lives to 

the Group commencing from the time the asset is held ready for 

use.  the depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable 

asset is the lesser of the rate determined by the life of the mining 

operation and: 

class of Asset  depreciation rates

motor vehicles  22.5 – 25%

computer & office equipment  15 – 40%

Plant and equipment  5 – 33%

leasehold improvements  20%

Buildings and other infrastructure  5 – 33%

the assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and 

adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date.

mining property and development

mining property and development expenditure for the establishment 

of access to mineral reserves, together with expenditure transferred 

from exploration and evaluation and expenditure incurred in 

commissioning of a mine are capitalised to the extent that the 

expenditure results in future benefits. these amounts are 

amortised, upon commencement of production, over the 

estimated economic reserve of the mine on a units of use basis. 

Construction in progress

during the construction phase, self-constructed assets are 

classified as construction in progress within property, plant and 

equipment. Once commissioned these assets are reclassified to 

property, plant and equipment at which time they will commence 

being depreciated. the cost of self-constructed assets includes 

the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly 

attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its 

intended use, and the costs of dismantling and removing the 

items and restoring the site on which they are located.

(f) Impairment of Assets

Non-financial assets

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying values of its 

non-financial assets to determine whether there is any indication 

that those assets have been impaired.  if such an indication exists, 

the recoverable amount of the asset is determined and compared 

to the asset’s carrying value.  Any excess of the asset’s carrying 

value over its recoverable amount is recognised as an expense in 

the income statement.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an 

individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of 

the cash-generating unit (cGu) to which the asset belongs. A cGu 

is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows 

that largely are independent from other assets and groups. 

impairment losses recognised in respect of cGu’s are allocated 

first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 

units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in 

the unit (group of units) on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 

recognised. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that 

the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 

that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 

amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised, with the 

exception that any previously impaired goodwill should not be 

re-recognised. 

Financial assets

A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective 

evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative 

effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset.  

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured  

at amortised cost is calculated as the difference between its 

carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future 

cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.  

An impairment loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial 

asset is calculated by reference to its current fair value.

significant financial assets are tested for impairment on an 

individual basis. the remaining financial assets are assessed 

collectively in groups that share similar credit risk characteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. 

Any cumulative loss in respect of an available-for-sale financial 

asset recognised previously in equity is transferred to the income 

statement. 

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 

recognised. for financial assets measured at amortised cost and 

available-for-sale financial assets that are debt securities, the 

reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

angas cash generating unit impairment test

An impairment test on the Angas cGu was undertaken as at  

30 June 2012 and 31 december 2012 which was based on the 

value in use methodology.  An impairment expense was 

recognised at 30 June 2012, no further impairment was required 

at 31 december 2012. Value in use of the Angas cGu was based 

on the following key assumptions:

•	 estimate of last ore processed in August 2013.

•	 Production based on the most recent reserve statement.

•	 recognised analyst forecast assumptions for commodity 

prices and exchange rates have been applied in determining 

the cash flow estimates. 

•	 Angas plant and equipment sales values.  

•	 A post-tax discount rate of 12.5%.
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Recoverable Amount 

in assessing whether the carrying amount of an asset is impaired, 

the asset’s carrying value is compared with its recoverable 

amount. the recoverable amount of non-financial assets or 

cash-generating units (cGu) is the greater of their fair value less 

costs to sell and value in use.  in assessing fair value, or value in 

use, estimates and assumptions including the appropriate rate at 

which to discount cash flows, the timing of the cash flows, 

expected life of the relevant area of interest, exchange rates, 

commodity prices, ore reserves, future capital requirements and 

future operating performance are used.  the recoverable amount 

of an asset or cGu will be impacted by changes in these 

estimates and assumptions which could result in an adjustment 

to the carrying amount of that asset or cGu.

(g) Ore Reserves

economically recoverable ore reserves represent the estimated 

quantity of product in an area of interest that can be expected to 

be profitably extracted, processed and sold under current and 

foreseeable economic conditions.  the Group determines and 

reports ore reserves under the standards incorporated in the 

Australasian code for reporting exploration results, mineral 

resources and Ore reserves, 2004 edition (the JOrc code).   

the determination of ore reserves includes estimates and 

assumptions about a range of geological, technical and economic 

factors, including quantities, grades, production techniques, 

recovery rates, production costs, transport costs, commodity 

demand, commodity prices and exchange rates.  changes in ore 

reserves impact the assessment of recoverability of exploration 

and evaluation assets, property, plant and equipment and 

intangible assets, the carrying amounts of assets depreciated  

on a units of production basis, provisions for site restoration  

and the recognition of deferred tax assets, including tax losses.

(h) Associates and Joint Ventures 

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more 

parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint 

control. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method 

(equity accounted investees) where the Group has joint control, 

established by contractual agreement and requiring unanimous 

consent for strategic financial and operating decisions. the 

consolidated financial statements includes the Group’s share of 

the income and expenses of equity accounted investees, after 

adjustments to align the accounting policies with those of the 

Group, from the date that significant influence or joint control 

commences until the date that significant influence or joint control 

ceases. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in 

an equity accounted investee, the carrying amount of that interest 

(including any long-term investments) is reduced to nil and the 

recognition of further losses is discounted except to the extent 

that the Group has an obligation to make or has made payments 

on behalf of the investee.

Where the joint venture represents a jointly controlled operation, 

the Group recognises its interest in the jointly controlled 

operations by recognising the assets that it controls and the 

liabilities that it incurs. the Group also recognises the expenses 

that it incurs and its share of the income that it earns from the sale 

of goods or services by the jointly controlled operation. 

A jointly controlled operation involves use of assets and other 

resources of the venturers rather than establishment of a separate 

entity.

(i) Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure

exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of acquiring 

licenses, are capitalised as exploration and evaluation assets 

(e&e assets) on an area of interest basis pending determination  

of the technical feasibility and commercial viability of the project. 

When a licence is relinquished or a project is abandoned, the 

related costs are recognised in the income statement immediately.

tangible and intangible e&e assets that are available for use are 

depreciated (amortised) over their estimated useful lives. upon 

commencement of production, the accumulated costs for the 

relevant area of interest are amortised over the life of the area 

according to the rate of depletion of the economically recoverable 

reserves.

e&e assets are assessed for impairment if (i) sufficient data exists 

to determine technical feasibility and commercial viability, and  

(ii) facts and circumstances suggest that the carrying amount 

exceeds the recoverable amount (see impairment note 3(f)).  

e&e assets are assessed for impairment when any of the 

following facts and circumstances exist:

•	 the term of the exploration license in the specific area of 

interest has expired during the reporting period or will expire 

in the near future, and is not expected to be renewed;

•	 substantive expenditure on further exploration for and 

evaluation of mineral resources in the specific area are not 

budgeted nor planned;

•	 exploration for and evaluation of mineral resources in the 

specific area have not led to the discovery of commercially 

viable quantities of mineral resources and the decision was 

made to discontinue such activities in the specified area; or

•	 sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a development 

in the specific area is likely to proceed, the carrying amount of 

the exploration and evaluation asset is unlikely to be 

recovered in full from successful development or by sale. 

e&e assets are transferred to development assets once the 

technical feasibility and commercial viability of an area of interest 

can be demonstrated.  e&e assets are assessed for impairment, 

and any impairment loss is recognised prior to being reclassified.

Pre-licence expenditure and expenditure deemed to be 

unsuccessful is recognised in the income statement immediately.

3. SigNifiCaNT aCCOuNTiNg POliCiES (continued)
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(j) Trade and Other Payables

trade payables and other payables are stated at cost.

(k) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a legal or 

constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is 

probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that 

outflow can be reliably measured.

Site restoration liability

A provision is recognised for the estimated cost of rehabilitation, 

decommissioning and restoration relating to areas disturbed during 

operation of the Angas Zinc mine up to reporting date but not yet 

rehabilitated. the provision is based upon current cost estimates 

and has been determined on a discounted basis with reference  

to current legal requirements and technology.  As the provision 

represents the discounted value of the present obligation, using  

a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments and the 

risks specific to the liability, the increase in value of the provision 

due to the passage of time will be recognised as a borrowing cost 

in the income statement in future periods. the provision is 

recognised as a non-current liability (in line with the expected 

timescales for the work to be performed), with a corresponding 

asset taken to account and amortised over the life of the mine.  

At each reporting date the rehabilitation liability is reviewed and 

re-measured in line with changes in discount rates and timing or 

the amounts of the costs to be incurred based on area of 

disturbance at reporting date. changes in the liability relating  

to the re-assessment of rehabilitation estimates are added to  

or deducted from the related asset. 

redundancy provision is made for the Group’s liability for redundancy 

payments which will fall due upon closure of the Angas Zinc mine.

(l) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the Group’s liability for employee benefits 

arising from services rendered by employees to reporting date.  

employee benefits that are expected to be settled within one year 

have been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when 

the liability is settled, plus related on-costs.

the liability for long service leave is recognised in the provision 

for employee benefits and measured as the present value of 

expected future payments to be made in respect of services 

provided up to the reporting date. consideration is given to 

expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee 

departures and periods of service. expected future payments are 

discounted using market yields at the reporting date on national 

Government bonds with terms to maturity and currency that 

match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Share Based Payments

the Group uses share options to provide incentives to directors, 

employees and consultants.  during 2012 no additional options 

were issued to employees of the Group under the terramin 

Australia limited employee Option Plan (eOP).  the Board, upon 

the recommendation of senior management, has discretion to 

determine the number of options to be offered to eligible employees 

(as that term is defined by the eOP) and the terms upon which 

they are offered, including exercise price and vesting conditions. 

the fair value of options at grant date is independently determined 

using a trinomial option pricing model that takes into account the 

exercise price, the term of option, the vesting and performance 

criteria, the impact of dilution, the non-tradeable nature of the 

option, the share price at grant date and expected price volatility 

of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield and the risk 

free interest rate for the term of the option. Historical volatility has 

been the basis for determining expected share price volatility as  

it assumed that this is indicative of future trends, which may not 

eventuate.  the life of the options is based on the historical 

exercise patterns, which may not eventuate in the future.

the fair value of options granted is recognised as an expense 

with a corresponding increase in equity.  the fair value is 

measured at grant date and recognised as an expense over the 

period during which the directors, employees or consultants 

become unconditionally entitled to the options. 

upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share based 

payments reserve relating to those options is transferred to  

share capital.

(m) Leases

leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has 

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 

as finance leases (refer notes 13 and 27). finance leases are 

capitalised at lease inception at the lower of the fair value of the 

leased property and the present value of the minimum lease 

payments. the corresponding rental obligations, net of finance 

charges, are included as loans and borrowings. each lease 

payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. the 

finance cost is charged to the income statement over the lease 

period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability for each period. the property, 

plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated 

over the lesser of the asset’s useful life and the lease term.  

lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all of 

the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are charged as 

expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

(n) Loans and Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable 

transaction costs.

subsequent to initial recognition, loans and borrowings are  

stated at amortised cost, with any difference between cost and 

redemption value being recognised in the income statement over 

the period of the borrowings on an effective interest basis.  

loans and borrowings with a determinable payment due less 

than twelve months from balance date are classified as current 

liabilities.
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(o) Financing Costs

financing costs include interest payable on borrowings calculated 

using the effective interest method, amortisation of ancillary costs 

incurred in connection with the arrangement of borrowings, 

finance lease charges, mark to market of usd denominated 

monetary assets and liabilities, and the impact of the unwind  

of discount on long-term provisions for site restoration.

financing costs incurred in relation to the construction of any 

qualifying asset are capitalised during the period of time that is 

required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use  

or sale. Other financing costs are expensed as incurred. 

(p) Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances

foreign currency transactions are translated into functional 

currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the 

transaction.  the consolidated financial statements are presented 

in Aud, which is the Group’s functional and presentation currency.  

foreign currency monetary items are translated at the year-end 

exchange rate.  non-monetary items measured at historical cost 

continue to be carried at the exchange rate at the date of the 

transaction.  non-monetary items measured at fair value are 

reported at the exchange rate at the date when fair values were 

determined. foreign currency differences are recognised in the 

income statement.

the assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to 

Aud at exchange rates at the reporting date. the income and 

expenses of foreign operations are translated to Aud at exchange 

rates at the dates of the transactions. these foreign currency 

differences at the reporting date are recognised directly in equity. 

(q) Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Qualifying transaction 

costs of an equity transaction are accounted for as a deduction 

from equity, net of any related income tax benefit.

(r) Income Tax

the charge for current income tax expenses is based on the profit 

for the year adjusted for any non-assessable or disallowed items.  

it is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or are 

substantively enacted by the reporting date.

deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability 

method in respect of temporary differences arising between the 

tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in 

the consolidated financial statements.  no deferred income tax 

will be recognised from the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability, excluding a business combination, where there is no 

effect on accounting or taxable profit or loss.

deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to 

apply to the period when the asset is realised or liability settled.  

deferred tax is credited in the income statement except where it 

relates to items that may be credited directly to equity, in which 

case the deferred tax is adjusted directly against equity.

deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is 

probable that future tax profits will be available against which 

deductible temporary differences can be utilised.  determination 

of future tax profits requires estimates and assumptions as to 

future events and circumstances, in particular, whether successful 

development and commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale, of 

the respective areas of interest will be achieved.  this includes 

estimates and judgements about commodity prices, ore reserves 

(note 3(g)), exchange rates, future capital requirements, future 

operational performance and the timing of estimated cash flows.  

changes in these estimates and assumptions could impact on 

the amount and probability of estimated taxable profits and 

accordingly the recoverability of deferred tax assets. 

the Group is part of an income tax consolidated group under the 

Australian tax consolidation regime.

(s) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 

amount of Gst, except where the amount of Gst incurred is  

not recoverable from the Australian taxation Office.  in these 

circumstances the Gst is recognised as part of the cost of 

acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  

receivables and payables in the statement of financial position 

are shown inclusive of Gst.

cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a 

gross basis, except for the Gst component of investing and 

financing activities, which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(t) Revenue

revenue from commodity sales is recognised when the risks and 

rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer, the 

quantity of the goods has been reasonably accurately determined, 

the price is determinable and recovery of consideration is probable.  

this is generally when title to the goods transfers to the buyer.

commodity sales are recognised net of all discounts and pricing 

adjustments, refining and distribution costs as applicable based 

on either fixed or provisional pricing and assays.  commodity 

sales contracts allow for provisional prices and assays to be 

estimated where metal prices or final assays are not able to be 

established until future periods.

revenue on provisional commodity sales is adjusted in future 

periods as final pricing and assays are confirmed.

under existing arrangements, the company has a limited option 

to request early payment for concentrates against a warehouse 

receipt.  Although some of the criteria under AAsB 118 are 

satisfied (it is probable that delivery will be made and the 

concentrate is on hand, identified and ready for delivery), the 

holding of the concentrates is at the request of the seller and not 

the buyer, and usual payment terms do not apply.  Accordingly, 

proceeds received from the early payment option are treated as 

unearned income until such time that the concentrate is shipped 

and the usual characteristics of revenue recognition are satisfied.

3. SigNifiCaNT aCCOuNTiNg POliCiES (continued)



39FINANcIAL sTATEMENTs

management fee revenue is recognised as the service is provided 

to the customer (joint venture associate), and is determined based 

on the basis of a percentage expenditure funded by the joint 

venture partner as per the agreement with the joint venture partner.

(u) Derivatives 

commodity and foreign exchange hedging in fixed forward 

contracts are utilised to reduce short term exposure to 

commodity and foreign exchange. 

these derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair 

value on the date the derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently re-measured to fair value. the method of recognising 

the changes in fair value subsequent to initial recognition is 

dependent on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging 

instrument, the nature of the underlying item being hedged and 

whether the arrangement qualifies for hedge accounting.   

the Group has not designated the derivative contracts entered 

into during the period as hedges for accounting purposes. As 

such, changes in fair value of hedges are recognised immediately 

in the income statement and are included in finance income or 

costs. 

(v) Earnings Per Share

the Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (ePs) 

data for its ordinary shares. Basic ePs is calculated by dividing 

the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the 

company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 

outstanding during the period. diluted ePs is determined by 

adjusting the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders 

and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 

for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, which 

comprises convertible notes and share options granted to 

employees, directors, consultants and other third parties.

(w) Segments

A business segment is a group of assets and operations engaged 

in providing products or services that are subject to risks and 

returns that are different to those of other business segments.  

A geographical segment is engaged in providing products or 

services within a particular economic environment and is subject 

to risks and returns that are different from those segments 

operating in other economic environments.

segment information is presented only in respect of the Group’s 

geographical segments, being Australia and northern Africa, 

which is the basis of the Group’s internal reporting.    

(x) Compound Financial Instruments

compound financial instruments issued by the Group comprise 

convertible notes that can be converted to share capital at either 

the option of the holder or the company where the number of 

shares to be issued does not vary with changes in their fair value.

the liability component of a compound financial instrument is 

recognised initially at the fair value of a similar liability that does 

not include an equity conversion option. the equity component is 

recognised initially as the difference between the fair value of the 

compound financial instrument as a whole and the fair value of 

the debt component. subsequent to recognition, the liability 

component is measured on the amortised cost basis until 

extinguished on conversion or redemption. the equity component 

is not re-measured. 

(y) Financial Risk Management

the Group’s activities expose it to the following risks from the use 

of financial instruments:

Credit Risk 

the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or 

counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual 

obligations. this arises principally from the Group’s product sales, 

short term cash investments and derivatives. 

Liquidity Risk 

the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial 

obligations as they fall due. the Group manages this exposure  

by targeting to have sufficient cash financing facilities available 

on demand to meet planned expenditure for a minimum period of 

45 days (refer note 13 for detail on available financing facilities).

market Risk 

the risk that changes in market prices, such as commodity 

prices, foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 

Group’s income or value of its holdings of financial instruments. 

the Group may enter into commodity derivatives, foreign 

exchange derivatives and may also incur financial liabilities (debt), 

in order to manage market risks.  All such transactions are carried 

out within Board approved limits. 

the Group’s financial risks are managed primarily by the General 

manager finance and chief executive Officer, including external 

consultation advice as required, as a part of the day-to-day 

management of the Group’s affairs. 

finance and risk reporting is a standard item in the report 

presented at each Board meeting.

specific details of how these risk exposures impact the Group, and 

the use of derivative financial instruments to hedge market risk, is 

provided in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.

Capital management 

the Board seeks to maintain a strong capital base sufficient to 

maintain the future development of the Group’s business. the 

Board closely monitors the Group’s level of capital so as to 

ensure it is appropriate for the Group’s planned level of activities. 

there were no changes to the Group’s approach to capital 

management during the year.
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(z) Forward Exchange Contracts

the fair value of forward exchange contracts is based on their 

quoted price, if available.  if a quoted price is not available, then 

fair value is estimated by discounting the difference between the 

contractual forward price and the current forward price for the 

residual maturity of the contract using a credit-adjusted risk-free 

interest rate (based on government bonds).

4. rEvENuE aND OThEr iNCOME
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Revenue:

sale of concentrate 71,412 58,167

   71,412 58,167

Other Income:

rent, hire & office services 6 32

Other income – 25

   6 57

5. auDiTOr’S rEMuNEraTiON
  2012 2011
  $ $

KPMG:

Audit and review of financial reports 200,500 156,500

Other services in relation to due diligence 3,000 –

Other services in relation to 
taxation services – 20,000

   203,500 176,500

6. fiNaNCE iNCOME aND COSTS
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Finance income:

interest income 77 291

foreign exchange and  
commodity hedging gains 1,807 3,587

   1,884 3,878

Finance costs:

interest on convertibles notes 1,188 1,150

interest on borrowings  2,220 2,138

unwinding of discount on  
mine rehabilitation provision 215 276

Other borrowing costs 2,371 1,020

foreign exchange and  
commodity hedging losses 4,043 1,582

   10,037 6,166

   

7. CaSh aND CaSh EquivalENTS
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

cash on hand 3 4

Bank balances 7,073 1,953

short-term deposits 1 3,789 5,545

   10,865 7,502

1.  Short-term deposits includes AUD 3.8 million with maturity dates  
up to 120 days and interest rates ranging from 3.1% to 4.35%. 
The Group has pledged $0.2 million of its short-term deposits to 
fulfil bank guarantee requirements. These funds will be returned to 
the Group on satisfaction of the guarantees. 

8. iNvENTOriES
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

raw materials and consumables  
(at cost) 2,805 3,435

Work in progress - ore run of mine 
(at net realisable value) 311 1,276

finished goods  
(at net realisable value) 4,160 3,239

Total inventories at the lower  
of cost and net realisable value 7,276 7,950

At 31 december 2012, the write-down of inventories to net 

realisable value amounted to $266,000 (2011: $522,000).   

9. TraDE aND OThEr 
rECEivablES

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

trade receivables 1 5,723 5,518

Accrued interest receivable 4 23

Other receivables 506 937

   6,233 6,478

1. Trade receivables relate to sales of concentrate. 

3. SigNifiCaNT aCCOuNTiNg  
POliCiES (continued)
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10. (a) PrOPErTy PlaNT  
  aND EquiPMENT 

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Freehold land:  

At cost 2,819 2,819

total freehold land  2,819 2,819

Leasehold improvements:  

At cost 56 56

less accumulated depreciation (53) (45)

total leasehold improvements 3 11

Buildings and other infrastructure:

At cost 114 114

less accumulated depreciation (100) (47)

total buildings and other infrastructure 14 67

Plant and Equipment:

At cost 70,537 69,180

less accumulated impairment   (19,784) –

less accumulated depreciation (47,288) (35,077)

total plant and equipment 3,465 34,103

Mining property and developments assets:

At cost 59,171 58,646

less accumulated impairment  (13,748) –

less accumulated amortisation (41,359) (28,312)

total mining property and  
development assets 4,064 30,334

Construction in progress:

At cost 237 460

total construction in progress 237 460

Mine rehabilitation assets:

At cost 4,059 4,697

less accumulated depreciation (3,718) (2,531)

total mine rehabilitation assets 341 2,166

   

Total property plant and equipment 10,943 69,960

10. (b) ExPlOraTiON  
  aND EvaluaTiON aSSETS

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Exploration and evaluation assets   

At cost 51,588 50,605

less impairment  (4,214) –

Total exploration and evaluation 47,374 50,605

    

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Exploration and evaluation assets  
by location  

Oued Amizour 42,640 42,590

Other  4,734 8,015

Total exploration and evaluation 47,374 50,605

    

the Oued Amizour asset is held by Western mediterranean Zinc 

spa (WmZ), an entity controlled by the Group. WmZ has the right 

to explore and evaluate the Oued Amizour deposit and surrounds. 

recoverability of the carrying amount of the exploration and 

evaluation assets is dependent on the successful development 

and commercial exploitation, or alternatively sale of the 

respective area of interest, and continued renewal of exploration 

licenses. the Oued Amizour exploration license expired on 26 

August 2011. this license is required to undertake additional 

drilling on the site. the Group is liaising with Agence nationale du 

Patrimoine minier, the Algerian regulator, who has advised that 

the renewal of the exploration permit will be finalised upon an 

agreement being reached with the JV partner on the definitive 

feasibility study (dfs).

in february 2013, the company submitted a new proposal to its 

partner in order to find a compromise on the on-going points of 

disagreement in the dfs essentially related to mining method, 

disposal of tailings, and economics of the project.  the company 

expects to meet to discuss this proposal with its joint venture 

partner to reach an outcome in the short term.
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10.  (a) aND (b) continued 

Movements in carrying amounts
    Leasehold  Buildings  Mining  Exploration Mine  
   Freehold  improve-   and other Plant and property and Construction and rehabilitation 
  land  ments  infrastructure equipment 1 development in progress evaluation assets Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening carrying amount  
1 January 2012 2,819 11 67 34,103 30,334 460 50,605 2,166 120,565

Additions – – – – – 2,252 1,893 – 4,145

disposals – – – (123) – – – (638) (761)

transfers – – – 1,950 525 (2,475) – – –

depreciation and amortisation – (8) (53) (12,481) (13,047) – – (1,187) (26,776)

impairment  – – – (19,784) (13,748) – (4,214) – (37,746)

foreign currency movement – – – (200) – – (910) – (1,110)

Carrying amount at  
31 December 2012 2,819 3 14 3,465 4,064 237 47,374 341 58,317

    Leasehold  Buildings  Mining  Exploration Mine   
   Freehold  improve-   and other Plant and property and Construction and rehabilitation 
  land  ments  infrastructure equipment development in progress evaluation 1 assets Total
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Opening carrying amount  
1 January 2011 2,818 23 90 41,459 34,644 313 42,956 2,789 125,092

Additions 1 – – 45 – 14,140 6,420 282 20,888

disposals – – – (31) – – – – (31)

transfers – – 5 5,264 8,466 (13,993) 258 – –

transfer to equity  
accounted investee  – – – – – – 1,079 – 1,079

depreciation and amortisation – (12) (28) (12,627) (12,776) – – (905) (26,348)

impairment – – – – – – – – –

foreign currency movement – – – (7) – – (108) – (115)

Carrying amount at 
31 December 2011 2,819 11 67 34,103 30,334 460 50,605 2,166 120,565

1. Plant and equipment includes assets located at the Menninnie Zinc Project, subject to a farm-out joint venture arrangement with Musgrave.

Finance Loans

the carrying value of plant and equipment and mining property subject to finance loans and hire purchase contracts at 31 december 

2012 was $1,559,000 (2011: $6,038,000). Additions during the year include $966,000 (2011: $4,609,000) of plant and equipment and 

mining property under finance loans and hire purchase contracts. loaned assets and assets under hire purchase contracts are pledged 

as security for the related finance loans and hire purchase liabilities. All other assets are subject to a first charge as security to the 

Group’s bank loans.

Change in estimates

during the year the Group conducted a review of the remaining life of the Angas mine, which resulted in changes in the expected usage 

of certain items of property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment located at the Angas mine, which management previously 

expected to use to the first half of 2015, is now expected to remain in production until the closure of the mine in the second half of 2013, 

after which these assets will be sold or scrapped. As a result the expected useful lives of these assets has decreased. the effect of 

these changes result in the remaining carrying value of these assets being depreciated down to their expected residual values in 2013. 
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11. iMPairMENT lOSSES
during the year ended 31 december 2012, total impairment 

charges of $4.2 million (2011: nil) were recognised in relation to 

the exploration and evaluation assets held in the fleurieu region.  

the impairment was triggered due to a lack of active and 

significant exploration activities occurring. subsequent to the 

year end, an active exploration programme commenced in the 

fleurieu region on the Pipeline gold prospect.

total impairment charges of $33.5 million (2011: nil) were 

recognised in respect of mining property and development and 

associated plant and equipment at the Angas Zinc mine.  the 

triggers for impairment were primarily due to the effect of 

changes to the mine plan resulting from a revised estimate of 

Angas Ore reserves and mineral resources which shows a 

reduction of mineral reserve resulting from mining depletion and 

the impact of lower Aud commodity prices on the economic 

cut-off grade.

in assessing whether an impairment is required for the carrying 

value of an asset, its carrying value is compared with its 

recoverable amount.  the recoverable amount is the higher of the 

asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use.  Given the 

nature of the company’s activities, information on the fair value of 

an asset is usually difficult to obtain unless negotiations with 

potential purchasers or similar transactions are taking place.  

consequently, unless indicated otherwise, the recoverable 

amount used in assessing the impairment charges is value in use.

the estimate of value in use was determined using a post-tax 

discount rate of 12.5 percent (2011: 12.5 percent). the calculation 

of value in use is most sensitive to the following assumptions:

•	 Production volumes

•	 mine life

•	 Operating costs

•	 metal prices and exchange rates

•	 discount rates

•	 Angas plant and equipment sale values

estimated operating assumptions are based on detailed life of 

mine plans and take into account development plans for the  

mine agreed by management as part of the long-term planning 

process.  estimates based on current market conditions would 

indicate a closure date for the Angas Zinc mine in approximately 

August 2013.  updates will continue to be provided as more 

certainty is gained through optimisation processes and 

consideration of global markets.

following the impairment of the Angas Zinc mine, the recoverable 

amount approximates to the carrying amount.  therefore any 

adverse movement in a key assumption would lead to a further 

impairment.

   
  

12. TraDE aND OThEr PayablES
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Current:

trade payables 4,320 5,178

Other payables and accrued expenses 5,517 6,256

unearned income/customer advances 1,860 597

   11,697 12,031

trade and other payables are normally non-interest bearing and 

are settled on 30 days end of month terms.

13. lOaNS aND bOrrOwiNgS
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Current:

lease liabilities (note 27) 1 1,550 1,930

Bank loans - secured -  
Angas Zinc project 2 15,328 8,578

convertible notes 3 19,495 –

   36,373 10,508

Non-current:  

lease liabilities (note 27) 1 790 2,148

Bank loans - secured -  
Angas Zinc project 2 – 10,775

convertible notes 4 9,630  29,667

   10,420 42,590

Financing facilities  

Bank loan facilities - available 2 15,523 20,000

Bank loan facilities - undrawn – –

Bank loan facilities - drawn 15,523 20,000

less: unamortised transaction costs (195) (647)

Carrying amount at 31 December 15,328 19,353

Guarantee facility - available 5 5,600 5,600

Guarantee facility - undrawn (285) (285)

Guarantee facility - drawn 5,315 5,315

1   Lease liabilities are effectively secured as rights to the leased assets 
revert to the lessor in the event of default.

2   At balance date, the Company had a Corporate revolving $15.5 
million loan facility provided by Investec. Interest is payable 
quarterly on the facility, with $4.5 million variable at the bank bill 
swap reference rate for the period plus a margin and $11 million 
fixed at a base rate ranging from 4.92% to 4.97% plus a margin.

 Subsequent to balance date, the Company repaid $5.0 million  
of the Bank Loans and agreed with Investec to restructure the 
Corporate revolving facility such that the $10.5 million remaining  
to be paid is due on 30 September 2013. Prior to the restructure, 
$7.0 million was due to be paid on 28 February 2013 with $8.5 
million payable on 30 June 2013.  
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3   On 31 December 2012 Asipac acquired from JP Morgan US$ 15.05 
million (AU$ 14.4 million) in five year unlisted convertible redeemable 
notes issued by the Group.  Subsequent to balance date the 
maturity date has been extended from 16 September 2013 to  
31 May 2014.  The notes are repayable in either cash or shares with 
reference to the volume weighted average price (VWAP) of the 
Company’s shares around the time of repayment.   

 The notes can be converted to shares at the discretion of the 
Company at any time, or at the election of Asipac. Any unconverted 
notes are to be repaid in cash at maturity.  Interest is payable 
semi-annually based on the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) 
plus a margin of 200 basis points and can be paid in cash or shares 
at the election of the Group. The USD balance owing has been 
translated to AUD equivalents using the spot currency rate at  
31 December 2012, which has given rise to an unrealised foreign 
currency exchange gain of $0.3 million for the year.  A total of 
1,412,131 shares were issued during the period to JP Morgan  
in lieu of a cash interest payment of $0.2 million. 

 An institutional investor holds $5 million in five year unlisted 
convertible notes issued by the Group.  In February 2013 the 
maturity date has been deferred from 17 September 2013 to 31 July 
2014.  The note holder has the right to convert the notes into fully 
paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company at a conversion 
price of $2.21 per note.  The interest rate is fixed at 8.00% per 
annum, with interest payable in cash or shares at the discretion of 
the Group.

4 Transaminvest S.A. hold US$10 million (AU$ 9.6 million) in 5 year 
unlisted convertible redeemable notes issued by the Group with a 
maturity date of 23 September 2014.  The notes are repayable in 
either cash or shares with reference to the volume weighted average 
price (VWAP) of the Company’s shares around the time of repayment. 

 The notes can be converted to shares at the discretion of the 
Company at any time or at the election of Transaminvest S.A. 
subject to a minimum VWAP of $1.70.  Interest is payable semi-
annually based on the LIBOR plus a margin of 200 basis points and 
can be paid in cash or shares at the election of the Group.  The 
USD balance owing has been translated to AUD equivalents using 
the spot currency rate at 31 December 2012, which has given rise 
to an unrealised foreign exchange gain of $0.2 million for the year.

5  A $5.6 million guarantee facility has been provided by Investec  
in relation to rehabilitation bonds required by DMITRE over the  
ML 6229. An amount of $0.3 million of this facility remains undrawn.

14. PrOviSiONS
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Current:

employee benefits 2,801 1,152

   2,801 1,152

Non-current:

employee benefits 214 522

mine rehabilitation 5,197 5,618

   5,411 6,140

 employee   mine    
  benefits   rehabilitation  total
 $’000 $’000 $’000

At 1 January 2012 1,674  5,618 7,292

increases in provisions 4,190 –  4,190

unused amounts reversed (788) (636) (1,424)

Paid during the period  (2,061) – (2,061)

unwind discount – 215 215

At 31 December 2012          3,015            5,197                8,122 

the mine rehabilitation provision is recognised for the estimated 

cost of rehabilitation, decommissioning and restoration relating  

to areas disturbed during operation of the Angas Zinc mine up  

to reporting date but not yet rehabilitated. the provision is based 

upon current cost estimates and has been determined on a 

discounted basis with reference to current legal requirements  

and technology. the provision has been calculated using a risk 

free discount rate of 2.61% (2011: 3.13%). the rehabilitation is 

expected to occur in 2014.

in accordance with the enterprise Agreement (eA) dated 29 July 

2010 and all relevant statutory provisions, the Group will incur 

redundancy payments upon the closure date of the Angas Zinc 

mine. the estimated life-of-mine based on remaining reserves at 

balance date was eight months. Accordingly, a provision of $1.85 

million has been provided on the estimated redundancy costs 

payable and is included within employee benefits.

15. iSSuED CaPiTal
(a) Ordinary shares
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

number of ordinary shares on issue at the end  
of the period 718,881,339 (2011: 210,800,124) 

Ordinary shares 147,695 137,237

share issue costs (3,996) (3,355)

   143,699 133,882

the holders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share 

at meetings of the company and participation in dividends 

declared. All issued shares are fully paid.

13. lOaNS aND bOrrOwiNgS  
(continued)
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15. iSSuED CaPiTal (continued) 

(b) Detailed table of capital issued during the year     
     employee, 
  number of ordinary exercise price share capital consultant,
type of share issue shares on issue $ $’000  or Other

Opening balance 1 January 2012   210,800,124   133,882 

share placement   105,950 0.23 24 consultant
shares issued in lieu of interest   1,412,131 0.14 198 Other
shares issued in lieu of interest   4,579,001 0.04 197 Other
share placement   15,000,000 0.02 300 Other
share placement   486,984,133 0.02 9,739 Other

Closing Balance 31 December 2012  718,881,339   144,340 

share issue costs    (641)
transfer of option reserve to issued capital following option exercise   – 

Issued Capital    143,699 

     employee, 
  number of ordinary exercise price share capital consultant,
type of share issue shares on issue $ $’000  or Other

Opening Balance 1 January 2011  167,315,574   120,014 

share placement   10,000,000 0.62 6,200 Other
share placement   167,522 0.36 60 employee
shares issued in lieu of interest   512,494 0.33 170 Other
share placement   12,300,000 0.37 4,551 Other
share placement   13,500,000 0.15 1,958 Other
share placement   7,004,534 0.15 1,016 Other

Closing Balance 31 December 2011  210,800,124   133,969 

share issue costs    (87) 
transfer of option reserve to issued capital following option exercise   –

Issued Capital    133,882 

16. rESErvES
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Foreign currency translation reserve 1  

Balance at the beginning of the year (5,272) (5,032)

Adjustment arising on translation  
into presentation currency (1,169) (240)

Balance at the end of the year (6,441) (5,272)

Share option reserve 2  

Balance at the beginning of the year 8,966 8,920

Options expensed during the period – 46

Balance at the end of the year 8,966 8,966

Total reserves 2,525 3,694

1.  Foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange 
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 
foreign subsidiaries.

2.  Share option reserve is used to recognise the value of equity-settled 
share-based payment transactions, including employees and KMP, 
as part of their remuneration.

17. NON-CONTrOlliNg iNTErEST
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 15,080 14,085

share of movement in net assets (65) 995

Balance at the end of the year 15,015 15,080

movement in non-controlling interest in 2012 relates to the 35% 

minority interest (enOf 32.5% and OrGm 2.5%) in exploration 

and evaluation costs for the Oued Amizour Project funded 

directly by the Group through its 65% shareholding in WmZ. 

during 2012, the Group funded approximately $1 million  

of exploration and evaluation costs in WmZ, of which enOf and 

OrGm are entitled to $0.35 million (35%).  the remainder of the 

movement is in relation to foreign exchange  changes.  35% of  

all assets contributed to WmZ by the Group effectively accrue to 

enOf and OrGm for nil consideration (other than forming part  

of the Group’s 65% earn-in) and has therefore been included in 

movement in net assets attributable to the non-controlling interest.
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18. iNCOME Tax ExPENSE
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Prima facie tax benefit on loss before  
income tax at 30% (2011: 30%) (19,553) (5,892)

decrease in income tax benefit due to:

(deductible)/non-deductible items 136 (508)

   (19,417) (6,400)

deferred tax asset not brought to account 19,417 6,400

income tax expense – –

   

unused tax losses for which no deferred  
tax asset has been recognised 110,962 94,509

Potential tax benefit 33,289 28,353

the applicable weighted average  
effective tax rates are as follows: 30% 30%

the company is part of an Australian tax consolidated Group. 

the Australian tax consolidated Group has potential future net 

income tax benefits of $34.9 million (net of deferred tax liabilities 

in relation to mine development of $1 million (2011: $6.4 million) 

and exploration expenditure of $1.4 million (2011: $2.4 million) 

and deferred tax assets in relation to property, plant and 

equipment of $2.3 million (2011: deferred liability of $0.7 million) 

not shown above) (2011: $19.3 million) calculated at 30% 

attributable to tax losses and timing differences carried forward.  

these have not been brought to account because the directors 

do not consider the realisation of the future tax benefit as 

probable. the benefit of these tax losses will be obtained if:

•	 the Australian tax consolidated Group derives future 

assessable income of a nature and of an amount sufficient  

to enable the benefits to be realised;

•	 the Australian tax consolidated Group can comply with the 

conditions for deductibility imposed by tax legislation; and

•	 no changes in the income tax legislation adversely affect the 

Australian tax consolidated Group in realising the benefit 

from the deduction of the loss.  

19. CaSh flOw iNfOrMaTiON
Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with  
loss from ordinary activities after income tax:
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

loss for the period (65,178) (19,640)

Adjustment for:  

depreciation and amortisation 26,776 26,348

unrealised (gain)/loss on foreign exchange (636) 17

unrealised derivative (gain)/loss 2,704 (629)

realised derivative (gain)/loss (1,026) (1,488)

non-cash inventory movements 1,058 (2,211)

share options expense – 46

non-current assets written off 37,746 -

shares issued in lieu of interest 395 170

employee share scheme – 60

(Profit)/loss on sale of fixed assets 69 –

realised foreign exchange (gain)/loss 102 96

net financing costs 1,934 794

Other 9 (119)

Change in operating assets  
and liabilities:  

(increase)/decrease in trade  
and other receivables 339 1,314

(increase)/decrease in inventory (384) (3,004)

(increase)/decrease in prepayments (259) 220

(decrease)/increase in trade payables  
and accruals (1,310) 1,704

(decrease)/increase in provisions 1,340 210

(decrease)/increase in unearned income 1,263 597

Cashflow from operating activities 4,942 4,485
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20. rElaTED ParTiES
(a) Key management personnel – options and rights over equity instruments

the movement during the reporting period in the number of ordinary shares or options over ordinary shares in terramin Australia 

limited by each KmP is as follows:

         Options 
  Shares  Options Shares Options Shares   vested and Balance
  balance balance acquired granted as disposed of Options Options exercisable shares
  1/01/2012 1/01/2012 during year incentive during year exercised cancelled 31/12/2012 31/12/2012

Parent Entity Directors   
rB davis 1 134,918 – – – –  – – – –
nm clift – 300,000  –  – – – – 300,000 –
Kc moriarty 2 9,026,313 – – –  – – – – –
sAJ Bonett 3 250,000 – – –  – – – – –
mH Kennedy 403,448 – 847,241 – – –  – – 1,250,689
P Zachert 123,448 – 376,552 – – –  – – 500,000
Y Xie – – –  – – –  – – –

Other Key Management  
Personnel    
rB Howie 4 76,886 100,000 – – –  – – – –
mJ terry 5 – 290,000 – – –  – 150,000 – –
J Burgess – 300,000 – – –  – 300,000 – –
iJ Holman 6 – – –  – – – – – –
Jf ranford – – –  – – – – – –
sd reincke 4,877 – 10,242 – – –  – – 15,119
sd Gauducheau 16,886 40,000 63,961 – – –  – 40,000 80,847

Total 10,036,776 1,030,000 1,297,996 – – – 450,000 340,000 1,846,655

1. As Mr Davis was not a director as at 31 December 2012, his shareholdings at that date have not been disclosed.
2. As Dr Moriarty was not a director as at 31 December 2012, his shareholdings at that date have not been disclosed.
3. As Mr Bonett was not a director as at 31 December 2012, his shareholdings at that date have not been disclosed.
4. As Mr Howie was no longer employed by the Company as at 31 December 2012, his shareholdings at that date have not been disclosed.
5. As Mr Terry was no longer employed by the Company as at 31 December 2012, his shareholdings at that date have not been disclosed.
6. As Mr Holman was no longer employed by the Company as at 31 December 2012, his shareholdings at that date have not been disclosed.  

         Options 
  Shares  Options Shares Options Shares   vested and Balance
  balance balance acquired granted as disposed of Options Options exercisable shares
  1/01/2011 1/01/2011 during year incentive during year exercised cancelled 31/12/2011 31/12/2011

Parent Entity Directors   
rB davis 31,470 – 103,448 – – –  – – 134,918
nm clift 1 – – – 300,000 – – – 300,000 –
Kc moriarty 9,026,313 1,000,000 – – – – 1,000,000 – 9,026,313
sAJ Bonett 250,000 250,000 – – – – 250,000 – 250,000
mH Kennedy 300,000 – 103,448 – – –  – – 403,448
rW Jones 2 190,000 150,000 – – –  – – – –
P Zachert 20,000 – 103,448 – –  – – – 123,448
Y Xie – – – –  – – – – –

Other Key Management  
Personnel    
rB Howie 1,886 100,000 167,522 – 92,522 – – 100,000 76,866
mJ terry – 290,000 – –  – – – 290,000 –
rP singer 3 – 600,000 – –  – – – – –
J Burgess – 300,000 – –  – – – 300,000 –
iJ Holman – – – –  – – – – –
JP Wilhelm 4 – 200,000 – –  – – – – –

Total 9,819,669 2,890,000 477,866 – 92,522 – 1,250,000 690,000 10,015,013

1. Mr Clift was granted options as an incentive in his role as General Manager – Algeria, prior to appointment as Managing Director and CEO.
2. As Mr Jones was not a Director of the Company as at 31 December 2011, his shareholdings at that date have not been disclosed.
3. As Mr Singer was no longer employed by the Company as at 31 December 2011, his shareholdings at that date have not been disclosed.
4. As Mr Wilhelm was no longer employed by the Company as at 31 December 2011, his shareholdings at that date have not been disclosed.
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(b) Key management personnel compensation

summary of KmP compensation:
  2012 2011

short-term employee benefits 1,757,726 2,144,677

Post-employment benefits 378,620 103,547

Other long-term benefits 9,582 532

share-based payments – 96,078

   2,145,929 2,344,834

the amounts disclosed in the table are the amounts recognised as 

an expense during the reporting period related to KmP. Amounts 

paid to KmP from prior years have been excluded from this table.

(c) Other director and key management personnel 
transactions

some KmP, or their related parties, hold positions in other entities 

that result in them having control or significant influence over the 

financial or operating policies of those entities.

these entities transacted with the Group in the reporting period.  

the terms and conditions of the transactions were no more 

favourable than those available, or which might reasonably be 

expected to be available, on similar transactions to non-director 

related entities on an arms length basis.

the value of transactions relating to KmP and entities over which 

they have control or significant influence were as follows:

Transaction value
Balance outstanding 
as at 31 December

Transaction 2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

2012 
$’000

2011 
$’000

NM Clift 1 Consultant Fees – 120,796 – 16,658

P Zachert 2 Consultant Fees 90,000 65,000 – 16,250

Y Xie 3 Consultant Fees 40,000 43,333 3,333 6,666

J Burgess 4 Consultant Fees 72,150 207,000 – 26,500

KC Moriarty 5 Consultant Fees 80,000 533,266 – 20,833

R Jones 6 Consultant Fees – 40,000 – –

JP Wilhelm 7 Consultant Fees  – 19,027 – –

282,150 1,028,422 3,333 86,907

1  Mr Clift provided consultancy services to the Group as General 
Manager – Algeria, prior to his appointment as Managing Director 
and CEO on 26 September 2011.

2. Mr Zachert is a Non-Executive Director of the Company.
3. Mr Xie is a Non-Executive Director of the Company.
4. Mr Burgess provides services relating to the Tala Hamza project.
5. Dr Moriarty was engaged by the Group as a consultant until his 

retirement on 30 April 2012. He received $70,000 under this 
engagement. Dr Moriarty remained a Non-Executive Director of the 
Company until 30 April 2012 and received $10,000 in Directors’ fees.

6. Mr Jones was a Non-Executive Director of the Company prior to his 
retirement on 30 June 2011.

7. Mr Wilhelm provided services relating to the management of 
operational support and business development for the Group in 
North Africa prior to his resignation 7 December 2010.

information regarding the compensation of individual directors 

and KmP and some equity instruments disclosures as required by 

corporations regulation 2m.3.03 is provided in the remuneration 

report section of the directors’ report on pages 17 to 22. 

there are no other related party transactions. 

21. fiNaNCial iNSTruMENTS
the Group is exposed to market risk in the form of commodity price 

risk, foreign currency exchange risk, and interest rate risk.  the 

carrying value of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group, 

together with the equity and profit or loss impact during the period 

(if any), that are affected by market risk are categorised as follows:  

   2012 2011
  Note $’000 $’000

Current:

cash and cash equivalents 7 10,865 7,502

receivables 9 6,233 6,478

Payables and accruals 12 (11,697) (12,031)

financial liabilities  
at amortised cost 13 (46,794) (53,098)

financial assets  
at fair value through  
profit and loss  22.1(a)&(b) – 892 

financial liabilities  
at fair value through  
profit and loss  22.1(a)&(b) (1,687) (20) 

Non Current:

financial assets 
at fair value through  
profit and loss 22.1(a)&(b) – 156

financial liabilities  
at fair value through  
profit and loss 22.1(a)&(b) – (10)

    (43,080) (50,131)

Fair value

the fair values of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group are 

equal to the carrying amount in the accounts (as detailed above). in 

the case of loans and borrowings it is considered that the variable 

rate debt and associated credit margin is in line with current 

market rates and therefore is carried in the accounts at fair value.

the table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair 

value, by valuation method. the different levels have been 

defined as follows:

•	 level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 

identical assets or liabilities

•	 level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 

1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly 

(i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)

•	 level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on 

observable market data (unobservable inputs).

20. rElaTED ParTiES (continued)



49FINANcIAL sTATEMENTs

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Level 1

financial assets at fair value  
through profit and loss – –

financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit and loss – –

   – –

Level 2  

financial assets at fair value  
through profit and loss – 1,048

financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit and loss (1,687) (30)

   (1,687) 1,018

Level 3  

financial assets at fair value  
through profit and loss – –

financial liabilities at fair value  
through profit and loss – –

   – –

   

Total (1,687) 1,018

22. fiNaNCial riSk MaNagEMENT
the Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise bank loans, 

convertible notes and trade and other payables. the main 

purpose of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s 

operations. the Group has various financial assets such as 

accounts receivable and cash and short-term deposits, which 

arise directly from operations.

the Group manages its exposure to key financial risks in 

accordance with the Group’s risk management policy. the 

objective of the policy is to support the delivery of the Group’s 

financial targets while protecting future financial security. the 

main risks that could adversely affect the Group’s financial 

assets, liabilities or future cash flows are market risks, comprising 

commodity price risk, currency risk, interest rate risk, credit risk 

and liquidity risk. 

the Group’s senior management oversees the management of 

financial risks. the Group’s senior management is supported by 

the Audit committee and the risk & compliance committee that 

together advise on financial risks and the appropriate financial 

risk governance framework for the Group. the risk & compliance 

committee provides assurance to the Group’s senior 

management that the Group’s financial risk-taking activities are 

governed by appropriate policies and procedures and that 

financial risks are identified, measured and managed in 

accordance with Group policies and the Group’s risk appetite. 

All derivative activities for risk management purposes are carried 

out by management that have the appropriate skills, experience 

and supervision. it is the Group’s policy that no trading in 

derivatives for speculative purposes shall be undertaken. At this 

stage, the Group does not currently apply any form of hedge 

accounting. 

the Board of directors reviews and agrees policies for managing 

each of these risks which are summarised below. 

1. Market Risk 
market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market 

prices. market prices comprise three types of risk: commodity 

price risk, interest rate risk and currency risk. financial 

instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings, 

deposits, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued 

liabilities and derivative financial instruments.

(a) Commodity price risk 

the Group is exposed to commodity price and exchange rate 

volatility in respect to future sales of commodities derived from 

the Angas Zinc mine.  this exposure is partially mitigated by fixed 

forward commodity hedging contracts below. 

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

current assets 1 – 892

non-current assets 1 – 156

current liabilities 1 (1,564) –

non-current liabilities – –

Total (1,564) 1,048

Net amount recognised in  
income statement (2,612) 1,165

1. Relates to hedging positions held at the end of the year in relation to 
4,812 tonnes of lead, 3,230 tonnes of zinc and 760 ounces of gold 
(2011: 2,030 tonnes of lead, 208,000 ounces of silver and 3,040 
ounces of gold) measured at fair value.

Sensitivity analysis

sensitivity to fluctuations in commodity prices in the below tables 

has been assessed based on existing price exposures in respect 

of commodity sales that occurred during the reporting period.

A 10 percent increase in the zinc and lead commodity prices at 

31 december 2012 would have decreased losses by the amounts 

shown below.  this analysis assumes that all other variables 

remain constant, in particular interest rates, currency rates and 

other metal prices.

21. fiNaNCial iNSTruMENTS (continued)
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Effect in AUD thousands -  
10% increase in commodity prices 
   Profit or
31 december 2012 equity (loss)

Zinc 1 – –

lead 854 854

Total 854 854

Effect in AUD thousands -  
10% decrease in commodity prices 
   Profit or
31 december 2012 equity (loss)

Zinc 1 – –

lead (854) (854)

Total (854) (854)

1. There were no outstanding Zinc price exposures in respect of Zinc 
sales that occurred in the reporting period

Effect in AUD thousands -  
10% increase in commodity prices 
   Profit or
31 december 2011 equity (loss)

Zinc 1 – –

lead 507 507

Total 507 507

Effect in AUD thousands -  
10% decrease in commodity prices 
   Profit or
31 december 2011 equity (loss)

Zinc 1 – –

lead (507) (507)

Total (507) (507)

1. There were no outstanding Zinc price exposures in respect of Zinc 
sales that occurred in the reporting period

(b) Currency risk

the Group is exposed to foreign currency risk on debt, as a result 

of usd convertible note issues, purchases and cash at bank 

which are denominated in a currency other than Aud. the 

currencies giving rise to this are primarily usd and Algerian dinar 

(dZd). the Group does not enter into derivative financial 

instruments to hedge such transactions denominated in a foreign 

currency. 

22. fiNaNCial riSk MaNagEMENT (continued)

the Group is also exposed to foreign currency risk on future  

usd denominated commodity sales. this exposure is partially 

mitigated by the Aud/usd fixed forward currency hedging 

contracts below.

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

current assets – –

non-current assets – –

current liabilities 1 (123) (20)

non-current liabilities 1 – (10)

Total (123) (30)

Net amount recognised in  
income statement (93) (533)

1. Relates to US$ 11.2 million of currency hedging positions against 
AUD (2011: US$ 20.7 million) measured at fair value.

the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at balance date 

was as follows:

 31 December 2012 31 december 2011
in Aud thousand equivalent USD DZD usd dZd

cash at bank 93 44 1,545 49

trade receivables 5,716 4 5,492 13

trade payables – (57) – (83)

convertible note  (24,124) – (24,665) –

Gross balance  
sheet exposure (18,315) (9) (17,628) (21)

the following exchange rates applied for the Group consolidated 

statement of financial Position:

 currency   2012  2011 

Year end rates used for the  
consolidated balance sheets,  
to translate the following  
currencies into Aud, are:  
 usd 1.04 1.02 

 dZd 82.83 77.61 

Sensitivity analysis

sensitivity to fluctuations in foreign currency rates is based on 

outstanding monetary items at 31 december 2012 which are 

denominated in a foreign currency.  A 10% strengthening of the 

Aud against the following currencies at the end of the reporting 

period would have decreased losses by the amounts shown 

below.  the impact relates to commodity sales and fixed forward 

commodity contracts in place at 31 december 2012. this 

analysis assumes that all other variables remain constant,  

in particular interest rates.  

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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Effect in AUD thousands - 10% increase of the AUD 
against the following currencies 
   Profit or
31 december 2012 equity (loss)

usd (2,035) (2,035)

Total (2,035) (2,035)

Effect in AUD thousands - 10% decrease of the AUD 
against the following currencies 
   Profit or
31 december 2012 equity (loss)

usd 1,665 1,665

Total 1,665 1,665

Effect in AUD thousands - 10% increase of the AUD 
against the following currencies 
   Profit or
31 december 2011 equity (loss)

usd 2,936 2,936

Total 2,936 2,936

Effect in AUD thousands - 10% decrease of the AUD 
against the following currencies 
   Profit or
31 december 2011 equity (loss)

usd (2,867) (2,867)

Total (2,867) (2,867)

(c)  Interest rate risk

the Group has an exposure to future interest rates on investments 

in variable-rate securities and variable-rate borrowings. the Group 

does not use derivatives to mitigate these exposures.

the Group’s exposure to interest rate risk and effective weighted 

average interest rates are as follows:

   floating fixed
 effective  interest  interest  
 interest  total  rate rate
2012 rate $’000 $’000 $’000

cash 1  0.01% 7,076 7,076 –

short-term deposits 1  3.07% 3,789 3,789 –

finance lease liabilities  8.62% (2,340) – (2,340)

Bank loans - secured 10.43% (15,328) (4,328) (11,000)

convertible notes 1  3.52% (29,126) (24,124) (5,002)

Net Financial Liabilities   (35,929) (17,587) (18,342)

   floating fixed
 effective  interest  interest  
 interest  total  rate rate
2011 rate $’000 $’000 $’000

cash 1  1.01% 1,957 1,957 -

short-term deposits 1  4.11% 5,545 5,545 -

finance lease liabilities  8.62% (4,078) - (4,078)

Bank loans - secured 7.81% (20,000) (9,000) (11,000)

convertible notes 1  3.52% (29,667) (24,665) (5,002)

Net Financial Liabilities   (46,243) (26,163) (20,080)

1. Includes AUD and USD denominated balances.

Sensitivity analysis

As the Group does not use interest rate derivatives, a change in 

interest rates at reporting date would have no effect on profit and loss 

or equity. 

for the 2012 financial year however, a 100 basis points increase in the 

effective interest rate would have resulted in an increase in losses of  

$0.2 million (2011: $0.4 million).

2. credit risk
derivative counterparties and cash term deposits are limited to 

high credit quality financial institutions. 

the carrying amount of the Group’s financial assets represents 

the maximum credit exposure. the Group’s maximum exposure 

to credit risk at the reporting date was:

   2012 2011
  Note $’000 $’000

financial assets at fair value  
through profit and loss 21 – 1,048

receivables 9 6,233 6,478

cash assets 7 10,865 7,502

    17,098 15,028

the Group has a credit exposure to outstanding receivables 

resulting from commodity sales to two major customers.   

existing off-take agreements in relation to commodities result  

a limited number of customers, all of whom are well established 

industry participants that account for 100% of trade receivables  

(see note 9).

the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for loans and 

receivables at the reporting date by geographic region was:

   2012 2011
   $’000 $’000

Australia 4,980 4,686

usA 1,249 1,779

Other 4 13

   6,233 6,478

22. fiNaNCial riSk MaNagEMENT (continued)
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3. Liquidity risk
the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest payments:

  carrying  contractual 6 mths    more than
  amount cash flows or less 6-12 mths 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years
2012 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities       

trade and other payables 11,697 (11,697) (11,697) – – – –

Bank loans - secured 15,328 (16,077) (16,077) – – – –

convertible notes 29,126 (30,155) (513) (19,817) (9,825) – –

finance lease liabilities 2,340 (2,486) (886) (792) (803) (5) –

  58,491 (60,415) (29,173) (20,609) (10,628) (5) –

Refer table in note 22.1(a) and (b) for maturity profile of derivative financial instruments. 

  carrying  contractual 6 mths    more than
  amount cash flows or less 6-12 mths 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years
2011 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Non-derivative financial liabilities       

trade and other payables 12,031 (12,031) (12,031) – – – –

Bank loans - secured 20,000 (21,796) (3,781) (6,605) (11,410) – –

convertible notes 29,667 (32,330) (523) (523) (21,314) (9,970) –

finance lease liabilities 4,078 (4,473) (1,139) (1,039) (2,295) – –

  65,776 (70,630) (17,474) (8,167) (35,019) (9,970) –

Refer table in note 22.1(a) and (b) for maturity profile of derivative financial instruments.

23. CONTrOllED ENTiTiES
      Percentage 
name  country of incorporation  2012  2011

Parent Entity:   

terramin Australia limited  Australia  

Subsidiaries of parent entity:   

menninnie metals Pty ltd  Australia  100%  100%

Western mediterranean Zinc spa  Algeria  65%  65%

terramin spain s.l.  spain  100%  100%

terramin exploration Pty ltd  Australia  100%  100%

terramin investments s.l.  spain  100%  100%

22. fiNaNCial riSk MaNagEMENT (continued)
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24. SEgMENT rEPOrTiNg
for management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on geography and has two reportable operating segments:

•	  Australia – explores, develops and mines zinc and lead deposits

•	  Northern Africa – developing a zinc deposit

no operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments.

  Australia northern Africa consolidated
  2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Revenue      

external customers 71,412 58,167 – – 71,412 58,167

Total Revenue 71,412 58,167 – – 71,412 58,167

Results      

depreciation and amortisation (26,776) (26,348) – – (26,776) (26,348)

exploration and evaluation writedown (4,214) – – – (4,214) –

impairment of non-current assets (33,532) – – – (33,532) –

interest income – – – – 77 291

interest expense – – – – (3,408) (3,288)

Profit/(Loss) before income tax (65,177) (19,640) – – (65,177) (19,640)

income tax expense – – – – – –

Loss for the period attributable  
equity holders of the Company (65,177) (19,640) – – (65,177) (19,640)

non-current assets other than  
financial intruments 15,500 77,598 42,818 42,967 58,317 120,565

Operating assets 40,051 100,470 42,957 43,129 83,008 143,599

Operating liabilities 68,332 72,368 57 83 68,389 72,451

Other disclosures      

capital expenditure 1 3,185 18,1614 960 2,727 4,145 20,888

1. Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and equipment, mine properties and development and exploration and evaluation assets.

management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource 

allocation and performance assessment. segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured 

consistently with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements.  However, the Group’s income taxes, interest income 

and interest expense are managed on a Group basis and are not allocated to operating segments.

there are no transactions other than cash funding between reportable segments.

Major customer

the Group’s revenue is derived from two customers.

25. SharE baSED ENTiTlEMENTS aND PayMENTS
the Group uses share options to provide incentives to directors, employees and consultants.  the Board, upon the recommendation of 

senior management, has discretion to determine the number of options to be offered to eligible employees (as that term is defined by 

the eOP and ltiP) and the terms upon which they are offered, including exercise price and vesting conditions. 

no options were granted in 2012.

Options granted during 2011 had a range of vesting dates from immediately to 6 months and were all issued under the eOP. the options 

have contractual lives of between 3 and 5 years and a weighted average price of $0.52.  exercise prices range from $0.53 to $3.74 in 

respect of options outstanding at 31 december 2011.  the weighted average fair value of the options granted during 2011 was $0.11.
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the value attributed to each option was calculated by using a trinomial option pricing model applying the following inputs: exercise 

price, life of the option, underlying share price, expected share price volatility (45%-55%), percentage likelihood of vesting conditions 

being met and the risk free interest rate.

(a) Number and weighted average exercise prices of share options    

  Weighted  Weighted 
  average Number of average number of
  exercise price Options exercise price Options
  2012 2012 2011 2011

Outstanding at 1 January   $1.77 6,595,000 $2.28 16,201,630  

cancelled during the period   $2.54 (2,425,000) $2.50 (10,206,630)

exercised during the period   $0.00 –  $0.00 –

Granted during the period   $0.00 – $0.52 600,000    

Outstanding at 31 december  $1.51 4,170,000  $1.77 6,595,000  

exercisable at 31 december   $1.51 4,170,000  $1.77 6,595,000  

the options outstanding at 31 december 2012 have a weighted average contractual life of 1.1 years (2011:1.77 years).  

All options outstanding for the Group at 31 december 2012 were fully vested and exercisable. 

(b) Options exercised during the year

during the year ended 31 december 2012 there were no options exercised (2011: nil).

(c) Table of share options movement for the Group at 31 December 2012
      Options total
      expense option
     number of this period value
expiry date    options $’000 $’000

Opening Balance 1 January 2012    6,595,000  

Options exercised during the period    – – –

Options lapsed during the period    (2,425,000) – –

Closing Balance 31 December 2012    4,170,000 – –

during the year, no options were issued to employees and executives of the Group.

(d) Table of share options movement for the Group at 31 December 2011
      Options total
    Vesting or  expense option
  exercise  hurdle terms number of this period value
expiry date Price $ classification Yes/no options $’000 $’000

Opening balance 1 January 2011    16,201,630  

8 Apr 2011 0.53 employee no 300,000 36 36

16 Jun 2014 0.50 employee no 100,000 10 10

16 Jun 2014 0.50 employee no 200,000 2 2

Total – – – 16,801,630 48 48

Options exercised during the period – – – – – –

Options lapsed during the period – – – (10,206,630) (2) (2)

Closing balance 31 December 2011    6,595,000 46 46

25. SharE baSED ENTiTlEMENTS aND PayMENTS (continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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26. EarNiNgS PEr SharE
(a) Basic earnings per share

the calculation of basic earnings per share at 31 december 2012 

was based on the net loss attributable to equity holders of the 

company of $65.2m (2011: $19.6m) and a weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year ended  

31 december 2012 of 216,238,666 (2011: 184,020,341), 

calculated as follows:

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

net loss for the year attributable to  
the equity holders of the company (65,177) (19,640)

issued ordinary shares 718,881,339 210,800,124

Weighted average number  
of ordinary shares 216,238,666 184,020,341

Basic earnings per share (cents) (30.14) (10.67)

(b) Diluted earnings per share

the calculation of diluted earnings per share does not include 

potential ordinary shares on issue as to do so would have the 

effect of reducing the amount of the loss per share.

  2012 2011

diluted earnings per share (cents) (30.14) (10.67)

27. COMMiTMENTS aND 
CONTiNgENCiES

there are contractual commitments at the reporting date as 

follows:

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

(a) Operating lease

non-cancellable operating leases contracted but  
not capitalised in the financial statements payable:

Within 1 year 711 818

One to five years 650 1,306

total 1,361 2,124

(b) Consultant contracts

commitments for the payment of services under  
consultant contracts in existence at the date of  
this report but not recognised as liabilities, payable:

Within 1 year – 18

One to five years – –

total – 18

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

(c) Employee remuneration contracts 

commitments for the payment of salaries  
and other remuneration under long term  
employment contracts in existence at the  
date of this report but not recognised  
as liabilities, payable:

Within 1 year – 214

total – 214

(d) Minimum expenditure on exploration  tenements on which 
the Group has title are as follows:  

As at 31 december 2012, there were minimum exploration 

expenditure commitments on tenements with local Government 

authorities. Bremer and menninnie dam tenements of $290,000 

and $160,000 per annum respectively. nonning, taringa , Kolendo, 

Wipippippee, and Pfeiffer tenements of $240,000 and $250,000, 

$100,000, $230,000, and $90,000 over 2 years respectively. 

As as 31 december 2011, there were minimum exploration 

expenditure commitments on tenements with local Government 

authorities. Bremer and menninnie dam tenements of $390,000, 

and $80,000 per annum respectively.  nonning and taringa 

tenements of $240,000 and $250,000 over 2 years respectively. 

the Kolendo tenement had commitment of $150,000 over 3 years.

  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

(e) Capital expenditure commitments  

Capital expenditure commitments  
contracted for:

Within 1 year 17 263

total 17 263

(f) Finance leases  

Commitments in relation to finance leases  
for the purchases of mining equipment  
are as follows:  

Within 1 year 1,678 2,193

longer than 1 year and  
not longer than 5 years 808 2,280

minimum lease payments 2,486 4,473
   

less: future finance charges 146 395

total lease liabilities 2,340 4,078

Representing:  

current 1,550 1,930

non-current 790 2,148

   2,340 4,078

the interest rate implicit in the various leases vary from  

6.7% to 10.4%. 
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(g) Other commitments  

oued amizour Zinc Project 

in february 2006, the Group signed a joint venture agreement in 

respect of the Oued Amizour Project with enOf an Algerian 

Government company involved in exploration and mining 

activities. the company agreed to manage and finance the joint 

venture until a decision to mine. 

Finder’s Fee

A second tranche of a finder’s fee is payable to a non-related 

party and linked to the commencement of commercial production 

from the first producing mine established on the Oued Amizour 

tenement covered by the Algerian joint venture agreement with 

enOf.  the amount payable will be us$62,500 which will be 

converted into the Australian dollar equivalent at the time of the 

contingent payment in the future, as well as 100,000 unlisted 

options exercisable at 25 cents each within 3 years of date of issue.

Bank Guarantees – angas Zinc mine

As at 31 december 2012, the company had lodged bank 

guarantees having a face value of $5.3 million with dmitre. 

Litigation

As at the date of this report, the company is not involved in any 

litigation.

28. EvENTS afTEr ThE  
balaNCE ShEET DaTE

subsequent to balance date, the company repaid $5.0 million  

of the Bank loans and agreed with investec to restructure the 

corporate revolving facility such that the $10.5 million remaining 

to be paid is due on 30 september 2013. Prior to the restructure, 

$7.0 million was due to be paid on 28 february 2013 with $8.5 

million payable on 30 June 2013.

in addition, the Group has agreed a restructure of convertible 

notes maturing in 2013.  the maturity date of the us$15 million 

unlisted convertible notes held by Asipac will be deferred from 16 

september 2013 to 31 may 2014. the maturity date of the $5 

million unlisted convertible notes held by an institutional investor 

will be deferred from 17 september 2013 to 31 July 2014.

in the directors’ opinion, no further events or circumstances have 

arisen since the end of the financial year that have significantly 

affected or may significantly affect the operations of the 

company or the Group, the results  of those operations or the 

state of affairs of the Group in future years that have not been 

otherwise disclosed in this report.

27. COMMiTMENTS aND  
CONTiNgENCiES (continued)

29. ParENT ENTiTy DiSClOSurES
As at, and throughout, the financial year ending 31 december 2012 

the parent company of the Group was terramin Australia limited.

  Parent
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Result of the parent entity

loss for the period (65,191) (19,660)

Other comprehensive income – –

total comprehensive income  
for the period (65,191) (19,660)

Financial position of parent entity

current assets 24,524 22,659

total assets  89,495 146,223

current liabilities 52,502 20,945

total liabilities 68,331 69,685

Total equity of the parent entity  
comprising of:  

share capital 143,699 133,882

reserves 8,966 8,966

Accumulated losses (131,501) (66,310)

Total equity 21,164 76,538

Parent entity contingencies  
  Parent
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

Contingent liabilities not considered remote

litigation Nil nil

Performance guarantees Nil nil

Parent entity capital commitments for acquisition  
of property plant and equipment
  Parent
  2012 2011
  $’000 $’000

capital expenditure commitments  
contracted for:

Within 1 year 17 263

Parent entity guarantees in respect of debts of its 
subsidiaries

the parent entity has not entered into a deed of cross Guarantee 

with respect to its subsidiaries.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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Corporate Governance Statement 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2012

aDOPTED POliCiES & DirECTiON
the Board and management are responsible for establishing the 
corporate governance framework of the Group.  the Board is 
committed, where possible and reasonable, to set the highest 
standards of corporate governance in accordance with the  
AsX corporate Governance council’s “Corporate Governance 
Principals and Recommendations with 2010 Amendments – 2nd 
Edition” (ASX Recommendations).   the Board (assisted by 
company management) regularly reviews the company’s policies, 
practices and procedures governing and guiding the company’s 
business.  

this statement provides an outline of the key current and evolving 
corporate governance practices.  the table below sets out the  
AsX recommendations and the status of compliance with each 
recommendation.  to the extent that company policies and 
practices departed from the AsX recommendations during the 
period, the nature and extent of this departure is explained in the 
table on page 62 of this statement.
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ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations
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1 Lay solid foundations for management and oversight

1.1 Establish the functions reserved to the board and those delegated to 
senior executives and disclose those functions. 

Yes

1.2 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of senior 
executives.

Yes

1.3 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on principle 
1.

Yes

2 Structure the Board to add value

2.1 A majority of the board should be independent Directors. No

2.2 The chair should be an independent director. Yes

2.3 The roles of chair and chief executive officer should not be exercised 
by the same individual.

Yes

2.4 The board should establish a nomination committee. Yes

2.5 Disclose the process for evaluating the performance of the board, its 
committees and individual Directors.

No

2.6 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on principle 
2.

Yes

3 Promote ethical and responsible decision-making

3.1 Establish a code of conduct and disclose the code or a summary as 
to:
•  the practices necessary to maintain confidence in the Company’s 

integrity;
•  the practices necessary to take into account the Company’s legal 

obligations and the reasonable expectations of its stakeholders; 
and

•  the responsibility and accountability of individuals for reporting and 
investigating reports of unethical practices.

Yes

3.2 Establish a policy concerning diversity and disclose the policy or a 
summary of that policy which includes requirements for the board to 
establish measurable objectives for achieving gender diversity and for 
the board to assess annually the objectives and progress in achieving 
them.

Yes

3.3 Disclose annually the measurable objectives set for achieving gender 
diversity and progress towards achieving them.

Yes
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ASX Corporate Governance Council Recommendations
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3.4 Disclose annually the proportion of woman employees in the whole 
organisation, women in senior executive positions and women on the 
board.

Yes

3.5 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on principle 
3.

Yes

4 Safeguard integrity in financial reporting

4.1 The board should establish an audit committee. Yes

4.2 The audit committee should be structured so that it:
•  consists only of non-executive Directors; Yes
•  consists of a majority of independent Directors; Yes
•  is chaired by an independent chair, who is not chair of  
    the board; and

Yes

• has at least three members. No

4.3 The audit committee should have a formal charter. Yes

4.4 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on principle 
4.

Yes

5. Make timely and balanced disclosure

5.1 Establish written policies designed to ensure compliance with ASX 
Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at 
senior executive level for that compliance and disclose those policies 
or a summary of those policies.

Yes

5.2 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on principle 
5.

Yes

6. Respect the rights of shareholders

6.1 Design a communications policy for promoting effective 
communication with shareholders and encouraging their participation 
at general meetings and disclose the policy or summary of that policy.

Yes

6.2 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on principle 
6.

Yes

7. Recognise and manage risk

7.1 Establish policies for the oversight and management of material 
business risks and disclose a summary of those policies.

Yes

7.2 The board should require management to design and implement the 
risk management and internal control system to manage the 
Company’s material business risks and report to it on whether those 
risks are being managed effectively. The board should disclose that 
management has reported to it as to the effectiveness of the 
Company’s management of its material business risks.

Yes

7.3 The board should disclose whether it had received assurance from the 
chief executive officer and the chief financial officer that the 
declaration provided in accordance with section 295A of the 
Corporations Act is founded on a sound system of risk management 
and internal control and that the system is operating effectively in all 
material respects in relation to financial reporting risks.

Yes

7.4 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on principle 
7.

Yes

8. Remunerate fairly and responsibly

8.1 The board should establish a remuneration committee. Yes

8.2 The remuneration committee should be structured so that:
–  it consists of a majority of independent directors; Yes
–  it is chaired by an independent director; Yes
–  has at least three members. No

8.3 Clearly distinguish the structure on non-executive Directors’ 
remuneration from that of executive Directors and senior executives.

Yes

8.4 Provide the information indicated in the Guide to reporting on principle 8. Yes
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PriNCiPlE 1: 
Lay solid foundations for management  
and oversight
Companies should establish and disclose  
the respective roles and responsibilities  
of board and management

Role and responsibilities of the Board and Management

the Board has the responsibility of protecting the rights and 
interests of shareholders and achieving growth in shareholder value 
over the long term. 

to fulfil this role, the Board is responsible for:

•	 the	general	oversight	of	the	Company,	including	its	control	
and accountability systems;

•	 appointing	and	removing	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	and	
executive management and approving relevant terms of 
engagement and termination benefits;

•	 reviewing	and	adopting	strategic	plans	prepared	by	senior	
management and monitoring performance against those plans;

•	 ensuring	systems	are	in	place	to	facilitate	the	effective	
management of material risks to the company;

•	 ensuring	that	the	Company	has	established	reporting	systems	
and internal controls (financial, operational and legal), and 
monitoring their effectiveness;

•	 approving	and	monitoring	the	progress	of	major	capital	
expenditure, capital management and acquisitions and 
divestitures;

•	 protecting	the	Company’s	financial	position	and	its	ability	to	
meet its debts and other obligations as they fall due;

•	 ensuring	that	the	Company’s	accounts	comply	with	relevant	
accounting standards and present a true and fair view;

•	 ensuring	senior	management	have	sufficient	resources	to	
carry out the strategic plans approved by the Board;

•	 adopting	an	annual	budget	for	the	financial	performance	of	
the company and monitoring performance against it; and

•	 ensuring	that	the	Company	has	an	effective	process	for	
communicating with shareholders, other stakeholders and the 
public.

Additional details regarding the role, composition and operation of 
the Board are contained in the Board charter, which can be found 
in the corporate section of the company’s website.

the board convenes regular meetings with such frequency as is 
required to appropriately discharge its responsibilities. Between 
meetings the Board may take resolutions by written resolutions.

the Board has delegated a number of powers to board 
committees (see page 58) and the responsibility for the day-to-day 
operation and administration of the company and matters not 
expressly reserved to the Board to the managing director and 
chief executive Officer and the senior management team by way 
of a formal delegation of Authority Policy.  this delegation includes 
the appointment and removal of key senior executives.  

upon their appointment, all non-executive directors are provided 
with a formal letter of appointment, setting out the key terms and 
conditions of their appointment including duties, rights and 
responsibilities, remuneration (including superannuation and 

expenses), the time commitment required to properly perform the 
role of a non-executive director and the Board’s expectations 
regarding involvement in Board committees.  A comprehensive set 
of induction papers is provided to the new directors containing a 
range of information about the company’s operations and internal 
policies and procedures, including share trading and continuous 
disclosure policies.

Performance of Senior Executives 

All senior executives of the company are party to a formal 
employment or consultancy agreement containing detailed 
provisions in relation to their term of office, duties, rights and 
responsibilities and rights on termination.  like all new employees 
of the company, senior executives are required to participate in a 
formal induction process at the commencement of their 
engagement by the company.  the aim of the induction process is 
to provide new personnel with such information and training as 
necessary to enable them to contribute fully and effectively to the 
management of the company as quickly as possible. 

the performance of senior managers is reviewed annually (or more 
regularly as appropriate) by the Board or its delegate (typically the 
managing director and chief executive Officer) and the company’s 
human resources management. Performance is measured against 
objective benchmarks including operational or financial milestones. 
A comprehensive set of Key Performance indicators (KPis) is 
established in consultation with each senior manager during the 
annual performance appraisal process.  Performance is measured 
against these KPis on an annual basis (or more frequently as 
required).  Performance evaluations for all senior management 
personnel were conducted during the period in accordance with 
the abovementioned policy.

the performance of the managing director and chief executive 
Officer is subject to review by the full Board.

PriNCiPlE 2: 
structure the Board to add value
Companies should have a board of an effective 
composition, size and commitment to adequately 
discharge its responsibilities and duties

As at the date of this report, the company’s Board was comprised 
of an independent, non-executive chairman, responsible for the 
management of the functions of the Board, a managing director 
and chief executive Officer, charged with the overall management 
of the company, as well as a further 4 non-executive directors.  

mr michael Kennedy (who has served as a director of the company 
since June 2005) was appointed as independent, non-executive 
chairman of the Board on 30 June 2012.  since september 2011, 
mr nic clift serves as managing director and chief executive 
Officer of the company.  therefore, the company satisfies AsX 
recommendations 2.2 and 2.3 and demonstrates the Board’s 
commitment to ensuring that the company meets all of the AsX 
recommendations in a manner which is consistent with the 
company’s stage of development and with shareholder 
expectations.

Corporate Governance Statement 
for the Year Ended 31 December 2012
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details of the qualifications and relevant experience of each of  
the company’s directors can be found in the directors’ report  
at page 12 to 13. 

Directors’ Independence 

in the opinion of the board, to qualify as being “independent” a 
director must be independent of management and free of any 
business or other relationship which could materially interfere or 
could reasonably be perceived to interfere materially with the 
director’s ability the independent exercise of their judgement. 

mr siciliano was appointed by the Board in January 2013, pursuant 
to the terms of the underwriting agreement entered by the company 
and Asipac capital Pty ltd (Asipac) on 23 november 2012.  Asipac 
is a substantial shareholder of the company.  mr siciliano is also 
the chief financial Officer of Asipac.  As such, mr siciliano is not 
considered by the board to be independent director for the 
purpose of AsX recommendation 2.1.

mr Y Xie was appointed to the Board on 18 september 2009  
as a nominee of china non-ferrous metals industry’s foreign 
engineering and constructions co. ltd (nfc), a substantial 
shareholder of the company. By virtue of his position as a 
representative of a substantial shareholder of the company,  
mr Xie is not considered by the Board to be an independent 
director for the purpose of AsX recommendation 2.1.

mr mH Kennedy and mr P Zachert are both considered by the Board 
to be independent directors, having regard to the factors set out above.  

directors are regularly informed of, and consulted on, the activities 
of the company, both at formal monthly Board meetings and more 
regularly and informally as relevant information becomes available 
(for example on a daily or weekly basis, via the managing director 
and chief executive Officer).  Given the size and operational profile 
of the company, this culture of open and timely communication 
and consultation is considered as strongly supportive of good 
corporate governance practices.  

in order to ensure that all directors (whether independent or 
otherwise) are best placed to bring their independent judgment to 
board decisions, all directors are entitled to access relevant 
information regarding the company, and consult with company 
executives (including the company secretary) in the course of 
discharging their duties as directors.  directors may also seek 
independent advice in furtherance of their duties as directors, from 
a suitably qualified professional adviser at the expense of the 
company.  established processes are in place to support the ability 
of non-executive directors to obtain information and advice 
relevant to the proper discharge of their duties to the company.

none of the directors has a trading relationship with the company 
which could, or could reasonably be perceived to materially 
interfere with the director’s ability to act in the best interests of the 
company. the Board does not apply strict quantitative thresholds 
for determining the materiality of relationships between a director 
and the company which may affect their independence. rather, 
these relationships are considered on a case by case basis as they 
arise. to support this system of continuous assessment, as a 

standing agenda item at the start of each Board meeting, directors 
are asked to declare any potential conflicts of interest in any 
business or relationship to be considered or discussed at the 
Board meeting.  Given the relatively small size of the Board, and 
the active nature of each director’s participation in Board activities, 
the independence of directors is in this way subject to continuous 
review and assessment.  in the circumstances, the company 
considers that any change to a director’s independent status is 
able to be quickly identified and disclosed to the market.

As the company evolves, the Board, in consultation with the 
nominations & remuneration committee, will continue to review 
the composition of the Board and where appropriate, seek to 
recruit directors with the ability to enhance the Board’s expertise 
and management ability.

the standing and regular committees of the Board and their 
membership at the date of this report are set out below:

Board committee  current members

Audit committee  P Zachert (chair)

  mH Kennedy

risk & compliance committee  mH Kennedy (chair)

  P Zachert

nominations & remuneration committee P Zachert (chair)

  mH Kennedy

the composition of each of the Audit committee and the 
nomination & remuneration committee comply with the AsX 
recommendations and the requirements of the listing rules of the 
Australian securities exchange (AsX) (except for recommendations 
4.2 and 8.2).  details of each director’s attendance at committee 
meetings during the reporting period can be found in the directors’ 
report at page 13.

each Board committee has a charter outlining its functions and 
responsibilities, which can be found in the corporate section of the 
company’s website.  each of these charters is subject to annual 
review by the full Board. 

the composition of each committee is always subject to review of 
the board to ensure that each director brings their skills and 
qualifies to the committees.

PriNCiPlE 3:
promote ethical and responsible  
decision making
Companies should actively promote ethical and 
responsible decision making

Code of Conduct

the company has a code of conduct which establishes the core 
values in accordance with which the company operates its 
business and interacts with its stakeholders, including 
shareholders, land owners, traditional owners and the broader 
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community.  the code of conduct addresses matters such as 
compliance with laws, appropriate standards of behaviour, the 
management of conflicts of interest, environmental management 
and dealings with individuals in both employment and other 
contexts.

the code of conduct can be found in the corporate section of the 
company’s website.

Diversity & Equal Opportunity Policy

in August 2011, the Board adopted a diversity & equal Opportunity 
Policy which establishes the company’s commitment to 
recognising the benefits of employing a diverse range of people 
based on merit, qualifications, aptitudes, skills and potential. the 
diversity & equal Opportunity Policy sets out the responsibility of 
the Board and management to support diversity in the workplace 
by developing policy and monitoring outcomes.

the diversity & equal Opportunity Policy can be found in the 
corporate section of the company’s website.

in accordance with the policy, a number of measurable objectives 
for achieving diversity in the workplace have been set. 
responsibility for implementation of each objective has been 
assigned to the relevant Board committee or senior executive. the 
status of each objective as at 31 december 2012 is set out below.

Objective Status as at 31 December 2012 

Appoint a member of the 
executive management 
group with responsibility for 
diversity

The Managing Director is responsible for diversity.  

Publish the Diversity & 
Equal Opportunity Policy on 
the Company's website

The policy is included in the Corporate section of 
the Company's website.

Conduct an annual review 
of the objectives and 
measure progress against 
them

This is an ongoing commitment.  The Company will 
continue to review and update measurable 
objectives to promote diversity during the 2013 
reporting period.

Conduct workforce profiling 
and analysis to develop 
further measurable 
objectives in 2013 for 
achieving diversity 
(including gender diversity)

Workforce profiling is conducted on a regular basis 
by the human resources management.  

At the end of the year, annual remuneration reviews 
were conducted to ensure no disparities or bias 
exist.

Update all Company 
policies to reflect the 
Company’s commitment to 
diversity

During the year all Company polices have been 
reviewed to ensure they reflect the Company’s 
commitment to an inclusive workplace.  

The Company has attraction, recruitment and 
selection policies and working arrangements that 
encourage applicants and employees of all 
backgrounds to apply.

The Company will continue to review policies on an 
annual basis.

Develop Company-wide 
diversity communication, 
training and induction 
procedures

The Company’s updated policies, including the 
diversity policy and objectives, were communicated 
to all employees. 

Supervisors were provided with training which 
includes anti-discrimination, bullying and 
harassment.

Objective Status as at 31 December 2012 

Appoint female members The Board remains committed to identifying suitably 
qualified women for appointment to the Board. 
During the 2012 reporting period the Board actively 
sought candidates with the aim of appointing a 
suitably qualified female Board member.

Implement career and 
development planning as 
an integral part of 
employees’ annual 
performance appraisal plan

Development planning is included as part of the 
Company’s performance appraisal process for all 
employees. 

All Terramin employees are encouraged to achieve 
their potential through the provision of career 
development opportunities.  During 2012, this 
included:
• certified training
• participation at conferences
• membership of professional associations and 

networks.

As at 31 december 2012, women represented 7.4% of the 
company’s total workforce and  33.33% of the company’s senior 
executives. there were no female directors on the Board. the 
Board remains committed to identifying suitably qualified women 
for consideration for senior executive and Board roles, in particular 
where such appointments further enhance the operational 
effectiveness of the company and facilitate the company’s 
exposure to a broad range of relevant skills and competencies.

Share Trading Policy

in accordance with the AsX listing rules the company has a 
share trading Policy which applies to all directors, employees and 
regular consultants.   Among other things, the policy establishes a 
procedure for the notification of the company secretary of 
intended trading activity and addresses dealings by company 
officers, employees or consultants in the securities of other 
companies in respect of which that person may have inside 
knowledge deriving from their position within the company. the 
share trading Policy can be found in the corporate section of the 
company’s website.

PriNCiPlE 4:
safeguard integrity in financial reporting
Companies should have a structure to independently 
verify and safeguard the integrity of their financial 
reporting

the company has an established Audit committee, which 
comprises members who are all independent directors and who 
have appropriate financial and industry expertise to ensure the 
establishment of, and adherence to, proper internal controls of the 
company’s accounting systems and financial reporting processes.  
due to the size of the Board, the Audit committee currently has 2 
members and as such does not comply with recommendation 4.2.  
details of the qualifications and experience of each of the Audit 
committee members, as well as details of their attendance at 
meetings of the Audit committee during the reporting period can 
be found on page 13 of the directors’ report.   the Audit 
committee has a charter that sets out the role, responsibilities, 
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structure and membership of the committee. the Audit committee 
is kept informed of matters relevant to its function by receipt of 
regular management reports and communications from the 
company’s external auditors.

the managing director and chief executive Officer and chief 
financial Officer have each declared in writing to the Board that the 
company’s financial reports present a true and fair view, in all 
material respects, of the company’s financial condition and 
operational results, and have been prepared in accordance with 
the corporations Act 2001 and the relevant Australian Accounting 
standards.

A more detailed description of the roles and responsibilities of the 
Audit committee can be found in the Audit committee charter, in 
the corporate section of the company’s website.

PriNCiPlE 5:
Make timely and balanced disclosures
Companies should promote timely and balanced 
disclosure of all material matters concerning the 
Company

the company has a formal continuous disclosure Policy, setting 
out guidelines and procedures for the timely identification and 
disclosure of all material information regarding the company, in 
accordance with the company’s obligations under the AsX listing 
rules.

materially sensitive information is lodged immediately by the 
company with the AsX and upon acknowledgement is 
disseminated by posting to the company’s website. shareholders, 
potential investors and interested parties can avail themselves of 
an email alert facility through which announcements made to AsX, 
and other relevant information is made available.  Other relevant 
information, such as community newsletters and company 
presentations, are also disclosed to shareholders via the company’s 
website and, where relevant, to the AsX. the managing director 
and chief executive Officer is ultimately responsible for the 
approval and release of all company announcements and statutory 
reports, which are prepared with the input of relevant senior 
executives and the company secretary.

PriNCiPlE 6:
Respect the rights of shareholders 
Companies should respect the rights of 
shareholders and facilitate the effective  
exercise of those rights

the Board has adopted practices to promote communication with 
shareholders in a form and language intended to be easily 
understandable, and which encourage effective participation at 
general meetings.  As summarised in relation to Principle 5 above, 
the company uses a combination of electronic communication 
strategies, along with communications at general meetings and 
through periodic reporting and informal briefings, to ensure that 

shareholders have access to a full range of balanced and 
understandable information about the company and its operations.  
Given the nature and size of the company and its operations, a 
separate written communications policy is not considered 
necessary to ensure the company complies with the AsX 
recommendations in this regard.  

All shareholders are encouraged to attend and be heard at the 
company’s annual general meeting, and shareholders may do this 
by lodging questions with the company prior to the meeting date.  
the external auditor attends the company’s annual general 
meeting to respond to specific questions from shareholders.

the communication strategies and practices adopted by the Board 
are further enhanced and supported through adherence to the 
company’s continuous disclosure Policy and code of conduct 
which, in combination with compliance by the company with its 
periodic (quarterly, half yearly and annual) reporting obligations, 
ensure that shareholders and the broader investment community 
are provided at all times with up-to-date company information.  
Where appropriate, the company engages the support of 
experienced public and investor relations consultants to assist the 
company in ensuring that its communication strategies are 
effectively implemented.

PriNCiPlE 7:
Recognise and manage risk
Companies should establish a sound system of risk 
oversight and management and internal control

terramin is committed to understanding and managing risk and to 
establishing an organisational culture that ensures risk 
management is embedded in all activities, decision making and 
business processes.  the Board considers that proper risk and 
compliance management is fundamental to the success and 
sustainability of its operations and, as such, the Board takes 
seriously its obligations in this regard.  

the Board has an established and active risk & compliance 
committee which meets regularly to receive and consider reports 
on, and monitor and discuss, known and emerging risk and 
compliance issues, in particular in relation to non-financial 
operational and other business risks.  in addition, the Audit 
committee assists the Board to monitor financial risks faced by the 
company.  A copy of the charters for these committees, along with 
the company’s risk management Policy, can be found in the 
corporate section of the company’s website. 

the ongoing mitigation and management of key business risks is a 
standing item of business on the agenda of the risk & compliance 
committee.  the company has appointed a risk manager who 
reports regularly to the committee on the company’s risk register. 
the risk manager, together with senior management, is responsible 
for implementing the risk management framework to ensure the 
company’s material business risks are managed and for reporting 
to the committee on whether those risks are being managed 
effectively. responsible senior managers, who regularly attend 
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meetings of the committee, provide regular reports on areas of 
material risk.   the risk & compliance committee chairman 
reports to the Board at each of its meetings as to current matters 
of significance raised with, or being considered by the committee.

in support of the functions of the risk & compliance committee, 
the company’s senior managers are directly responsible for risk 
management in their respective areas of accountability, in 
accordance with the company’s risk management framework.  
financial, legal, compliance, strategic and reputational risks 
continue to be managed primarily by the managing director and 
chief executive Officer, financial controller and legal counsel and 
their teams as a part of the day-to-day management of the 
company’s affairs.  Operational, environmental and other more 
specific business risks are managed by relevant senior managers 
with the support and input of the managing director and chief 
executive Officer.  these risks are managed with the support of 
relevant professional advisers.  

the company has an established risk management framework 
based on the Australian standard for risk management As/nZ 
31000:2009, which is aimed at the systematic identification, 
assessment, treatment, communication and monitoring of risk 
within all areas of the company.  the risk manager undertakes an 
annual review of this framework at an organisation-wide level to 
ensure it remains up to date and relevant to the company’s 
changing risk profile.  

the managing director, the financial controller and the chairman 
of the risk and compliance committee are primarily responsible 
for reporting to the Board on a regular basis in relation to whether 
the company’s material business risk are being managed 
effectively by way of the company’s risk management and internal 
control systems. 

these reporting and control measures are supported by the 
certifications given annually by the managing director and 
financial controller to the Board in accordance with section 295A 
of the Corporations Act 2001 (cth). the Board has received the 
certifications for the year ended 31 december 2011.

PriNCiPlE 8:
Remunerate Fairly and Responsibly
Companies should ensure that the level and 
composition of remuneration is sufficient and 
reasonable and that its relationship to 
performance is clear

the company has an established nominations and remuneration 
committee which comprises members who are all independent 
directors.  due to the size of the board the nomination and 
remuneration committee currently has 2 members and as such 
does not comply with recommendation 8.2.  details of the 
qualifications and experience of each of the nominations & 
remuneration committee members, as well as details of their 
attendance at meetings of the nominations & remuneration 
committee during the reporting period can be found on page 13  
of the directors’ report.

matters of remuneration of the Board and managing director  
and chief executive Officer are considered by the nominations & 
remuneration committee, and in the case of non-executive 
directors, remuneration does not exceed the limit set by 
shareholders at annual general meeting (currently $700,000,  
which level was approved by shareholders at the company’s 
Annual General meeting in April 2010).  non-executive directors 
are not entitled to receive any benefit in connection with their 
retirement or loss of office, other than the payment of 
superannuation entitlements in accordance with the law.  

the Board delegates the review and determination of appropriate 
remuneration levels for senior executives to the managing director 
and chief executive Officer.  during the reporting year, the board 
has not used the services of professional remuneration advisors.  
However from time to time the board (and in particular the 
nominations & remuneration committee) may seek advice from 
professional advisers to ensure that it has all relevant information 
and guidance necessary to enable it to fully discharge its functions. 

details of the remuneration and incentive structures established by 
the company for key executives and directors are set out in the 
remuneration report, at page 19 and 20 of the directors’ report.  
in respect of key executives, the Board has adopted a 
remuneration structure which combines both fixed and “at risk” 
elements, with the latter linked to short and long term goals aimed 
at achieving the company’s overarching business objectives. the 
company has implemented employee share and option plans 
(which have been approved by shareholders at general meeting) to 
further support the link between individual remuneration and overall 
corporate objectives.  However taking into consideration the 
company’s financial position and the certainty surrounding the 
outcome of the strategic review, the board has not adopted a short 
or long term incentives for senior executives during the last 
reporting year. 

in respect of non-executive directors, remuneration is primarily by 
way of a base fee plus superannuation with additional fees payable 
to directors in consideration of their involvement on Board 
committees and for additional contributions over and above those 
ordinarily expected of a non-executive director.  the Board 
supports the issue, where appropriate, of equity securities to 
directors to further align the interests of directors with those of 
shareholders more generally. no equity or shares have been issued 
to directors during the reporting year.

Corporate Governance Statement 
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COrPOraTE gOvErNaNCE 
DiSClOSurES
during the period, the company complied with the AsX 
recommendations, other than as specified below.

PriNCiPlE 2
structure the board to add value 

Recommendation Reference 2.1 
Notification of Departure
A majority of the board should be independent directors.

Explanation for Departure
the company notes that following the completion of an 
underwritten rights issue, the Asipac group holds 37.5% as at  
31 december 2012.  Asipac chose mr siciliano to be appointed  
on the Board.  there are currently an equal number of independent 
and non-independent non-executive directors.  

the company notes that mr siciliano’ s skills and expertise and 
relationship with Asipac provide significant benefit to the company.

Recommendation Reference 2.5 
Notification of Departure
the process for evaluating the Board, committees and individual 
directors was not disclosed.

Explanation for Departure
to date, given its size and composition, the Board has taken the 
view that there are no significant benefits to be gained through the 
implementation of a formal review process.  As the size and 
composition of the company’s Board continues to change, the 
company will consider the implementation of a formal Board 
review process.

PriNCiPlE 4
safeguard integrity in financial reporting

Recommendation 4.2
the audit committee should be structured so that it has at least 
three members.

Explanation for Departure
Given the size of the board and the limited number of independent 
directors the Audit committee currently has 2 independent 
non-executive members. 

PriNCiPlE 8
Remunerate fairly and responsibly

Recommendation 8.2
the remuneration committee should be structured so that it has at 
least three members.

Explanation for Departure
Given the size of the board and the limited number of independent 
directors the nomination and remuneration committee currently 
has 2 independent non-executive members.
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TErraMiN auSTralia liMiTED
Tenement listing

  licence licence  
title name and location number  area expiry date interest minimum expenditure

Angas – south Australia ml6229 87.97 ha 16 Aug 2016 100% not applicable

Bremer – south Australia el4936 457 km2 26 Oct 2013 100% $580,000 from 1/07/2012  
     to 30/06/2013

currency creek – south Australia el4210 174 km2 23 nov 2013 100% Amalgamated with el4936

Hartley – south Australia el5078 126 km2 3 Jun 2014 100% Amalgamated with el4936

langhorne creek – south Australia * el4466 275 km2 18 Apr 2013 100% Amalgamated with el4936

Pfeiffer – south Australia el5102 154 km2 21 nov 2014 100% $90,000 over two years

tepko – south Australia * elA2012/00315 998 km2   

Kinchina – south Australia * elA2012/00317 56 km2   

wESTErN MEDiTErraNEaN ZiNC SPa (65% Terramin)

Tenement listing

  licence licence expiry WmZ
title name and location number  area date interest minimum expenditure

Oued Amizour – Algeria ** 5225Pe 12,276ha 26 Aug 2011 100% not applicable

MENNiNNiE METalS PTy lTD (100% Terramin)

Tenement listing

  licence licence expiry mmPl
title name and location number  area date interest minimum expenditure

menninnie dam – south Australia  el5039 101 km2 26 Oct 2014 100% $480,000 over three years

nonning – south Australia el4813 312 km2 30 nov 2013 100% $240,000 over two years

Kolendo – south Australia el4285 208 km2 26 Jul 2014 100% $100,000 over two years

taringa – south Australia * el4669 988 km2 20 feb 2013 100% $250,000 over two years

Wipippippee – south Australia el4865 862 km2 2 may 2014 100% $230,000 over two years

unalla – south Australia * elA2012/00299 155 km2 

mt ive – south Australia * elA2012/00316 429 km2   

* Awaiting approval from DMITRE –  Langhorne Creek EL4466 application for renewal of licence was lodged on 14/03/2013
   Taringa EL4669 application for renewal of licence was lodged on 18/01/2013
   Tepko application for a new licence was lodged on 5/11/2012
   Kinchina application for a new licence was lodged on 7/11/2012 – offered 20/3/2013
   Unalla application for a new licence was lodged on 18/10/2012 – offered 14/3/2013
   Mt Ive application for a new licence was lodged on 7/11/2012
.
** Awaiting approval – Oued Amizour application for renewal of licence has been lodged.

Tenement Information 
29 February 2012
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Additional Securities Exchange Information

EquiTy SECuriTiES ON iSSuE

Fully paid ordinary shares
As at 27 march 2013, there were 3,828 holders of a total of 

775,729,214 ordinary fully paid shares in the capital of the 

company. All ordinary fully paid shares in the capital of the 

company are listed for quotation on the AsX.

Unlisted options
As at 27 march 2013, there were 20 holders of a total of 

3,695,000 options over fully paid ordinary shares in the capital  

of the company.

Unlisted convertible notes
As at 27 march 2013, there were two holders of 25,050,000 

unlisted convertible redeemable notes at us$1.00 that are 

convertible by terramin, as well as one holder of 2,263,529 

unlisted convertible notes at $2.21.

SharEhOlDEr vOTiNg righTS
At a general meeting of shareholders, on a show of hands, each 

person who is a member or sole proxy has one vote. On a poll, 

each shareholder is entitled to one vote for each fully paid share.

unlisted options and unlisted convertible notes carry no voting rights.

DiSTribuTiON SChEDulE  
as at 27 march 2013

   us $1.00 $2.21
 fully paid  unlisted unlisted
 ordinary unlisted convertible convertible
number of securities shares options notes notes

 1 - 1,000 559 - - -

 1,001 - 5,000 1,149 - - -

 5,001 - 10,000 583 - - -

 10,001 - 100,000 1,198 13 - -

 100,001 - and over 335 7 2 1

 Total   3,824 20 2 1

As at 27 march 2013, there were 2799 shareholdings of less than 

a marketable parcel.

SubSTaNTial SharEhOlDErS
As at 27 march 2013, the following shareholders were substantial 

shareholders, as disclosed in substantial shareholder notices 

given to the company: 
  % issued 
shareholder number of shares capital 

Asipac capital Pty ltd 266,081,775 34.30

tronic enterprise development limited  52,233,870 6.73

investec Bank (Australia) limited  41,523,066 5.35

TOTAL 359,838,711 46.38

liST Of 20 largEST SharEhOlDErS
the names of the twenty largest shareholders as shown in the 

company’s register at 27 march 2013 are:

shareholder number of shares %

Wanshe Holdings Pty ltd 233,078,254 30.05

tronic enterprise development limited 52,233,870 6.73

investec Bank (Australia) limited  41,523,066 5.35

china non-ferrous metals industry’s  
 foreign engineering & construction 37,800,000 4.87

JP morgan nominees Australia limited 34,949,223 4.51

Asipac capital Pty ltd 22,357,224 2.88

mr Julian Paul leach 19,305,337 2.49

HsBc custody nominees (Australia) limited 18,909,150 2.44

Bond street custodians limited 12,955,254 1.67

Asipac Group Pty ltd 10,646,297 1.37

citicorp nominees Pty limited 6,767,313 0.87

Bond street custodians limited 5,786,840 0.75

Villaford Pty ltd 4,860,511 0.63

maniciti Pte ltd 4,000,000 0.52

Girth Pty ltd 3,004,550 0.39

mr david Alaster Paterson 3,000,000 0.39

Bart superannuation Pty limited 2,646,210 0.34

mr richard desmond reid 2,557,500 0.33

JP morgan nominees Australia limited 2,510,000 0.32

focem Pty ltd 2,418,989 0.31

Total 521,309,588 67.21

aDDiTiONal iNfOrMaTiON  
- unquoted equity securities

the following persons were the holders of 20% or more of the 

equity securities in an unquoted class as at 27 march 2013:

  number % of  
  of securities securities  
class of unquoted securities held in class

US$1.00 Unlisted convertible redeemable notes

 Asipac Group Pty ltd 15,050,000 60.08

 transaminvest s.A 10,000,000 39.92

$2.21 Unlisted convertible notes

 Bond street custodians limited 2,263,529 100.00

Unlisted options

 investec Bank (Australia) limited 1,800,000 27.29 

rESTriCTED SECuriTiES
there are no restricted securities on issue.
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